

### Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

# Clinical Simulation and Nursing Student Perceptions of Satisfaction, Self-Confidence, and Critical Thinking

Jaime Magnetico *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Education Commons</u>, and the <u>Nursing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jaime Magnetico

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Wendy Newcomer Edson, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Barbara Lopez Avila, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Catherine Watt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2017

Abstract

Clinical Simulation and Nursing Student Perceptions of Satisfaction, Self-Confidence,

and Critical Thinking

by

Jaime Lynn Magnetico

MA, University of Central Florida, 2009

BS, University of Central Florida, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2017

#### Abstract

Although the number of nursing programs has increased in Florida, the number of hospital sites available for clinical experiences have not, resulting in limited clinical time for each nursing program. To address this shortage of clinical time, local colleges are increasing the use of simulations in the curriculum. Guided by andragogy, this sequential mixed methods study was conducted to explore differences in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between two groups of students with different amounts of clinical simulation. In an associate degree nursing program, 34 nursing students completed a single survey on student perceptions of satisfaction and self-confidence, 12 students completed a critical thinking test, 37 student reflection papers were reviewed, and 4 faculty members were interviewed. Independent t tests were used in analyzing quantitative data, and content analysis was used in the analysis of qualitative data. Statistical analysis and content analysis showed no difference between the groups of students for satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. However, results should be interpreted with caution because quantitative analyses were underpowered, increasing the risk of type II error. Overall, students had positive comments about simulations in regard to satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. The results of this study will allow nursing faculty in the local setting to make better decisions with regard to using additional simulation in their programs. The results may benefit nursing students and the patients they care for in their future nursing careers in providing quality healthcare.

Clinical Simulation and Nursing Student Perceptions of Satisfaction, Self-Confidence,

and Critical Thinking

by

Jaime Lynn Magnetico

MA, University of Central Florida, 2009

BS, University of Central Florida, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2017

#### Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my committee chair, Dr. Wendy Edson, for guiding me during this process. I would also like to thank Dr. Lopez Avila (second member) and Dr. Catherine Watt (URR). Your time spent on this is very much appreciated; I could not have done it without your help. I would also like to thank my family and friends for being supportive during this whole process. Over the past 4 years, I have spent much time away from you all and in front of a computer. Thank you for putting up with me and pushing me to keep going. I love you all!

List of Tables	v
Section 1: The Problem	1
Introduction	1
Definition of the Problem	2
Rationale	6
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level	6
Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature	7
Definition of Terms	9
Significance of the Study	9
Research Question	11
Review of the Literature	13
Theoretical Foundation	13
Review of the Broader Problem	14
Nursing Education	15
Simulation	15
Increase in Simulation Use	17
Student Perception of Satisfaction	19
Self-Confidence and Simulation	
Critical Thinking	
Implications	23
Summary	24
Section 2: The Methodology	

## Table of Contents

Introduction	26
Research Design and Approach	26
Setting and Sample	27
Instrumentation and Materials	30
Data Collection Analysis Results	32
Protection of Participants' Rights	33
Summary	34
Research Findings	35
Data Analyses for Student Satisfaction	35
Data Analyses for Self-Confidence	38
Data Analyses for Critical Thinking	40
Assumptions	43
Limitations	43
Scope 45	
Delimitations	45
Qualitative Approach	45
Research Design and Approach	45
Participants	47
Data Collection for Qualitative Sequence	47
Qualitative Data Analysis	48
Qualitative Research Findings	49
Data Analyses for Faculty Interviews	49
Data Analysis for Student Satisfaction	50

Data Analysis for Self-Confidence	51
Data Analysis for Critical Thinking	52
Data Analyses for Student Reflections	52
Conclusion	55
Section 3: The Project	56
Introduction	56
Rationale	56
Review of the Literature	57
Nursing Education Curriculum	58
Topics for Clinical Simulation	59
Clinical Simulation Implementation	61
Clinical Simulation Evaluation	63
Project Description	64
Project Evaluation Plan	65
Project Implications	66
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	68
Introduction	68
Project Strengths and Limitations	68
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	69
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	70
Reflection on Importance of the Work	71
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	71

Conclusion	72
References	73
Appendix A: The Project	88
Appendix B: Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning	106
Appendix C: Interview Protocol	108
Appendix D: Reflection Summary	110

## List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for Student Satisfaction	
Table 2. t test for Student Satisfaction	
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics for Self Confidence	39
Table 4. t test for Self-Confidence	40
Table 5. Descriptive Statistics for Critical Thinking	41
Table 6. t test for Critical Thinking	42

#### Section 1: The Problem

#### Introduction

Formal nursing education has been in existence for more than 150 years. Nursing education dates back to 1860 when Florence Nightingale established the first nursing school to help educate nurses in preventing illnesses and speeding up the recovery of ill patients (Nightingale, 1992). Before Nightingale established a nursing school, nurses cared for patients without any formal education. Since this early time, nursing education has experienced vast changes with the development of associate, baccalaureate, and graduate nursing programs.

Nursing program curricula have expanded along with medical knowledge and now include didactic and hands-on clinical experience. The Florida Nurse Practice Act (2016) stated that nursing curricula must include clinical experience and theoretical instruction. Courses include surgical, geriatric, pediatric, medical, and psychiatric nursing. Instruction occurs in the classroom, and nursing programs provide clinical experience to students with the help of hospital affiliates. Nursing faculty use clinical sites to help educate their students about real-life situations. There has been an increase in nursing programs in the state of Florida, which has led to a decrease in clinical availability (Nursing Dean, personal communication, June 25, 2015). Due to the lack of clinical space available for one local nursing program, nursing faculty have increased the use of clinical simulations. For this study, I explored differences in nursing students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores of two groups of students who had experienced different amounts of clinical simulation experience.

#### **Definition of the Problem**

The decrease in the availability of healthcare sites for training nursing students has caused the target college in this study to increase the use of clinical simulation. Program faculty have been concerned that students are not gaining as much from their experiences as they would in a real clinical environment. Faculty are concerned that students are not satisfied, do not have self-confidence, and do not use critical thinking with the simulation experience. The purpose of this mixed methods study was to explore differences in two groups of nursing students who have been provided with different levels of clinical simulation experience and their perceptions of satisfaction, perceptions of self-confidence, and critical thinking

The target institution was a local college in the central Florida area that has a twoyear associate degree nursing program. Once in the program, students take a series of courses that helps prepare them for the clinical setting; these courses have laboratory components that include simulations (Nursing Faculty, personal communication, February 1, 2016). Nursing faculty have experienced a decrease in the availability of healthcare sites for clinical training required of their nursing students.

In 2009, there was a nursing shortage in the state of Florida. In response to this, the Florida Board of Nursing changed the laws to make it easier for nursing programs to open their doors. This led to an increase in nursing programs in the local area. The increasing number of nursing programs has increased the pressure on clinical sites and affected the available clinical space for area colleges (Nursing Dean, personal communication, June 24, 2015). The lack of clinical space has caused nursing faculty to

make adjustments in their courses, such as increasing the use of clinical simulation in curricula and replacing actual clinical time with clinical simulations. Clinical simulation use has increased in the local program to help alleviate the pressure due to the lack of available clinical space (Nursing Dean, personal communication, May 11, 2015).

A lack of available clinical space nationwide, along with other nursing program concerns caused a large-scale, randomized, controlled study to be conducted by the National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN). The purpose of the NCSBN study was to determine if simulation time can replace clinical hours (Hayden, Smiley, Alexander, Kardong-Edgren, & Jeffries, 2014). This study included 10 nursing programs across the United States with 666 participants. Data were collected from clinical competency, course outcomes, critical thinking, and ATI scores. The results provided evidence that simulation could indeed substitute for up to half of the required clinical hours (Hayden et al., 2014).

Following this study, a bill passed in Florida that allowed nursing programs to increase the use of simulation from 25 to 50 % of their clinical training (Florida Department of Education, 2014). At the target local college in Florida, simulation has been a component in all nursing courses. Faculty can use simulation to support lecture material, clinical skills, and laboratory practical. Each course in the program uses a different amount of simulation. The basic medical surgical nursing course has been testing the use of simulation in lieu of 25 % of a student's clinical time, and the program anticipates increasing the amount of simulation time for all classes in the future. (Nursing Dean, personal communication, May 11, 2015). If using clinical simulation in lieu of clinical time is beneficial, other specialty areas in the local nursing program may also use this teaching alternative.

The NCSBN simulation study did not address satisfaction with simulation or selfconfidence. Many factors can contribute to students not being satisfied with clinical simulation. When increasing the use of simulation, addressing factors such as student satisfaction is important. The reason for this study is faculty members at the local college expressed concern about students' displeasure with simulation due to the technology that is involved. Other student concerns included having to work with other students and video recording of simulations (Nursing faculty, personal communication, May 11, 2015). Students' lack of satisfaction with the fidelity level of simulations is another factor to be considered, because the outcome of simulation can be dependent on the level of fidelity (Jeffries, 2012). Low-fidelity simulation uses basic mannequins to practice skills, and high fidelity uses simulators that produce a more realistic simulation (Azzopardi et al., 2014). Addressing these issues before the start of the simulation may help alleviate student concerns.

While nursing faculty are concerned about student satisfaction, they also need to ensure that nursing students build self-confidence during clinical simulations. According to Messmer, Jones, and Taylor (2004), many new nurses are not confident in their critical care skills. Faculty members at the local college expressed concern about the lack of selfconfidence in their student nurses (Nursing faculty, personal communication, November 4, 2015). According to Lewis and Ciak (2011), nursing students reported increased selfconfidence with simulation. However, in the large-scale study conducted by the NCSBN, self-confidence was not researched in nursing students. Nursing faculty at the local college want to ensure that their students are confident in addition to having critical thinking skills.

According to the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (2008), a measurable outcome for nursing programs is critical thinking. Previous critical thinking tests given to local nursing students showed low scores for nursing students (Nursing Dean, personal communication, May 11, 2015). One objective of increasing the use of clinical simulation at the local college was to help increase critical thinking skills in nursing students. Shin, Ma, Park, Ji, and Kim (2015) examined various levels of simulation experience of groups of nursing students. Results showed that students who were exposed to more simulations had significant gains in critical thinking. Though there is literature that supports simulation improving critical thinking scores, my study focused on the differences, if any, between the amount of clinical simulation time provided and nursing students' critical thinking scores in the program at the local college.

Because of a decrease in the availability of healthcare sites for training nursing students, the local college has increased training its students using clinical simulation. Although the NCSBN national study examined various outcomes, including critical thinking, it did not address student satisfaction or self-confidence with simulation. In a review of research, Nehring (2010) found some studies indicating that students were satisfied with simulation and had improved self-confidence, and other researchers concluded that there were no differences with regard to self-confidence. Lapkin, Levett-Jones, Bellchambers, and Fernandez (2010) performed a meta-analysis of simulation.

During their research, they found the results to be inconclusive for clinical reasoning. Although there is literature to support the use of clinical simulation, it is still not clear if nursing students are more satisfied, have more self-confidence, and have higher critical thinking abilities relative to the amount of time spent with simulations. The purpose of this study was to explore differences, if any, in students' perceptions of satisfaction, perceptions of self-confidence, and critical thinking of groups of students receiving different amounts of clinical simulation. With an increase in student satisfaction, selfconfidence, and critical thinking scores, the local college may improve student-learning outcomes and produce better-prepared nurses.

#### Rationale

#### **Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level**

To help alleviate the lack of available clinical space in the local nursing program, the use of clinical simulation was increasing (Nursing Dean, personal communication, May 11, 2015). Clinical simulation has begun to reduce the time students are spending in hospital sites, and faculty have become concerned as to whether students are gaining as much from the clinical simulation time as they do in a real clinical environment. In recent years, local college graduate nurse pass rates on the NCLEX examination surpassed the state and national pass rate averages. With a change in the amount of clinical exposure, program faculty members want to make sure that nursing students are satisfied with clinical simulation while still achieving self-confidence in their skills and higher critical thinking faculties before they graduate. Ensuring that graduate nurses are ready to enter the workforce once they graduate is vital. In this study, I explored the differences in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking among groups of students receiving different amounts of clinical simulation.

#### **Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature**

Since the 2009 modification of legislation in the state of Florida, the number of nursing programs has increased by 151% (Florida Legislator, Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability [OPPAGA], 2015), and the increase has negatively impacted clinical availability. Because of the decrease in the amount of clinical space in Florida, the United States, and internationally, many nursing programs have begun to utilize simulation to educate their students (Dowie, 2011; National League for Nursing, 2015). The NCSBN study concluded that simulation can replace 50% of actual clinical time (Hayden et al., 2014). The NCSBN study outcomes that were addressed, however, were limited to clinical competency, ATI scores, critical thinking, and readiness for practice. They did not address student satisfaction with clinical simulation or students' self-confidence. Evidence that clinical simulation improves student satisfaction and self-confidence is still uncertain. Lisko and O'Dell (2010) determined that clinical simulation helped nursing students build self-confidence. However, Alinier, Hunt, Gordon, and Harwood (2006) revealed that there were no differences between their control and experimental group for self-confidence. In their study, Scherer, Bruce, and Runkawatt (2007) compared simulation (experimental group) to a case study group (control group) and found self-confidence to be higher in the control group. Lapkin et al. (2010) performed a meta-analysis of simulation outcomes and found that an increase in clinical reasoning was inconclusive. Medley and Horne

(2005) noted that students believed that they learned better by interaction with actual patients in a real clinical environment rather than in a simulation environment. Further investigation of clinical simulation is needed that focuses on student satisfaction and self-confidence.

The problem for this study was that program faculty were concerned about student satisfaction, whether students were as satisfied with clinical simulation as they were with their experience in a real clinical environment. Cant and Cooper (2010) systematically reviewed 12 studies of medium to high fidelity simulation and compared simulation outcomes to additional educational practices. They established that simulation was a valid teaching strategy for all 12 studies. However, gains in critical thinking, knowledge, satisfaction, or confidence were indicated in only six of the 12. According to Larue, Pepin, and Allard (2015), there was no significant difference in the use of clinical experiences and using simulation to replace 50% of clinical hours.

Though many researchers have findings supporting the use of clinical simulation, there are some studies where the findings have not made all the benefits of simulation clear. Given the decrease in the availability of healthcare sites for training students and the resulting increase in student use of clinical simulation, further research into the benefits or lack of benefits is warranted. The purpose of this mixed methods study was to explore differences, if any, in nursing students' perceptions of satisfaction, selfconfidence, and critical thinking of groups of students receiving varied amounts of clinical simulation.

#### **Definition of Terms**

*Critical thinking:* Critical thinking is defined as "purposeful, self-regulatory judgement which results in interpretation, analysis, evaluation, and inference" (Facione, 1990, p. 2).

*High-fidelity:* High fidelity is defined as using computerized mannequins for simulations (Kardong-Edgren et al., 2011).

*Low-fidelity:* Low fidelity is defined as simulations that use task trainers and noncomputerized mannequins (Kardong-Edgren et al., 2011).

*Satisfaction:* Satisfaction is "a short-term attitude resulting from an evaluation of a student's educational experience" (Elliott & Healy, 2001, p. 2).

*Self-confidence:* "Self-confidence is the perception of one's ability to successfully complete a task" (Perry, 2011, p. 224).

*Simulation:* Simulations are activities created to mimic a real clinical environment for students, which will enable them to demonstrate procedures and skills and use critical thinking skills to make decisions while using devices such as mannequins (Jeffries, 2005).

#### Significance of the Study

There is an abundant amount of prior research on nursing simulation. Many researchers have studied student perceptions, self-confidence, and critical thinking as variables in their studies. However, the results of these studies are unclear. In Nehring's (2010) review of studies, some researchers found no differences in students' selfconfidence. Lapkin et al. (2010) performed a meta-analysis of simulation studies and found that in the level of clinical reasoning was inconclusive.

The present study was conducted to explore differences, if any, in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between groups of students receiving varied amounts of clinical simulation. Understanding students' perceptions of simulation and any differences identified in student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking in this study should assist the local college's nursing faculty in better understanding the differences between the variables. This may lead to changes in the nursing program curriculum. If faculty increase simulation time in the nursing program curriculum due to the results of this study, students may benefit from such a change.

The results of this study may not only benefit the local college in deciding on program modifications, it may also help at a state level. Given the change in state legislation that has allowed an increase in simulation used in lieu of clinical time, this study may be beneficial to all nursing programs. The results may help nursing faculty determine if they need to make changes in the amount of clinical simulation time their students receive. If the results show significant differences, faculty may consider using more clinical simulation time rather than sending students to clinical sites. If there is no difference between the variables, faculty may look at other means of evaluating simulation before implementing a change in curriculum. The International Nursing Association for Clinical Simulation and Learning (INACSL) developed what is known as Standards of Best Practice: SimulationSM. These standards lay out guidelines to aid in developing and evaluating quality simulation (INACSL, 2015). These guidelines may assist faculty in the decisions required to transition curricula to include more simulation.

#### **Research Question**

The target local college has experienced a decrease in available clinical sites for its nursing students. Due to the decreasing availability of clinical sites, the program has increased the use of clinical simulation, and faculty are concerned that students are not satisfied with the change, do not have self-confidence, and do not use critical thinking. The purpose of this mixed methods study was to explore differences in perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between groups of students receiving varied amounts of clinical simulation. The three research questions were:

RQ1. What is the difference, if any, in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

 $H_01$ : There is no difference in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

 $H_a1$ : There is a difference in student satisfaction between students receiving

15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida. RQ2. What is the difference, if any, in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?  $H_02$ : There is no difference in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a difference in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

RQ3. What is the difference, if any, in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

 $H_03$ : There is no difference in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

 $H_a$ 3: There is a difference in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

A great deal of research has been completed in the past on simulation use. Many of the studies included student perceptions of simulation, self-confidence, or evaluating students' critical thinking skills with simulation. With the decreasing availability of clinical sites for nursing students, the local college is using more simulation instead of real clinical time. This study explored the differences, if any, in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between groups of students receiving 15 or 30 hours of clinical simulation. Based on the majority of prior research reviewed, the hypothesis was that students who experience a greater amount of clinical simulation time would be more satisfied with simulation, have higher self-confidence, and higher critical thinking scores. The measurement of clinical simulation time was determined by the students' course enrollment. I measured student perceptions of self-confidence using the National League for Nursing (NLN) Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning Survey (SSSCL). The California Critical Thinking Skills Test (CCTST) was used to measure critical thinking skills.

#### **Review of the Literature**

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The theoretical framework that was used for this study comes from educator Malcomb Knowles. According to Clapper (2010), "Knowles has greatly influenced the clinical world, particularly those conducting simulation for the improvement of health care" (p. 7). For this reason, I used Knowles' adult learning theory known as andragogy as the framework. Knowles (1970) defined andragogy as the science of helping adults learn. As adults get older and accumulate more experiences, these experiences become a resource for their learning (Knowles, 1970). Although andragogy is the science of helping adults learn, there are specific learning theories that have been developed. Experiential learning theory, developed by Kolb (1981) guided this study.

Experiential learning theory integrates many different aspects of cognitive development and cognitive style. Kolb's theory of experiential learning relates to students learning via simulations. Kolb (1981) stated that for learning from experience, the student must exhibit four abilities: "(a) concrete abilities, (b) reflective observation, (c) abstract

conceptualization, and (d) active experimentation" (p. 236). The student must be open to the experience, observe and reflect on what occurs, and use those reflections to think critically and make decisions for the simulation to be effective. Students gain selfconfidence during the active experimentation phase while immersed in the simulation and applying skills. Clapper (2010) stated that adult learners bring positive and negative references into their learning, and bad learning experiences may make them frustrated. Bad experiences may alter a student's perception of simulation. According to Kolb (1981), being open to new experiences is the foundation of experiential learning.

This review of the literature focused primarily on nursing education, definition of simulation, the different types of simulation (i.e., low fidelity and high fidelity), and various reasons as to why simulation use in nursing programs is on the rise. This study was conducted to explore how the amount of clinical simulation exposure affected student perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores.

#### **Review of the Broader Problem**

In the past 20 years simulation has been integrated more into nursing education (Aebersold & Tschannen, 2013). Simulation use in healthcare education has been increasing steadily, and I found an abundant amount of research available. Supporting literature for this study came from conducting searches in numerous databases including CINAHL, ProQuest, Science Direct, and Medline. Search terms included *nursing, allied health, student satisfaction, high-fidelity simulation, stimulation, student perceptions, self-confidence, critical thinking,* and *clinical simulation*. Nursing education, simulation and

self-confidence, and how critical thinking places a role in clinical simulation are the topics that are discussed in this literature review.

#### **Nursing Education**

Before becoming a registered nurse (RN), students must complete an accredited nursing program and pass the National Council licensure examination known as NCLEX-RN. The NCSBN developed the NCLEX-RN examination to be consistent with current nursing practice (NCSBN, 2015). The profession of nursing involves many different tasks and skills. According to the American Nurses Association (2015), nurses protect and promote for their patients in addition to helping prevent illnesses, injuries, and helping to alleviate suffering. The task of ensuring that nursing students can fulfill the requirements of being competent nurses falls on nurse educators. With technology constantly changing, it is important for nursing faculty to stay up to date on innovations, including simulation (National League for Nursing, 2016b).

#### Simulation

Clinical simulation use in nursing education has been increasing (Frick, Swoboda, Mansukhani, & Jefferies, 2014). Jeffries (2005) wrote, "Simulations are defined as activities that mimic the reality of a clinical environment and are designed to demonstrate procedures, decision-making, and critical thinking through techniques such as role-playing and the use of devices such as interactive videos or mannequins" (p. 97). In healthcare education, simulation use has various functions and benefits. The Society for Simulation in Healthcare (2015) observed that "healthcare simulations are designed to meet four main purposes, (a) education, (b) assessment, (c) research, and (d) health

system integration in facilitating patient safety" (para. 1). Clinical simulation gives opportunities to students and enables them to practice in a safe, nonthreatening environment. Giving students experience in a simulated environment improves clinical skills that can be used in actual clinical practice (Frick et al., 2014). Clinical simulation gives students a nonthreatening setting in which to practice their skills and get "hands on" experience before they go into the real hospital and work with patients (Curtin, Finn, Czosnowski, Whitman, & Cawley, 2011).

Simulation comes in different forms including high fidelity simulation and low fidelity simulation. Shinnick, Woo, Horwich, and Steadman (2011) explained that high fidelity simulation is costly in regard to time and money and teaches students hands-on experience with a realistic mannequin. Low-fidelity simulation includes equipment such as plastic arms, static mannequins, or case studies (Tosterud, Hedelin, & Hall-Lord, 2013). According to the Society of Simulation in Healthcare (2015), simulations help faculty bridge the gap between what faculty teach didactically and real clinical experience. Faculty can use simulations for novice nursing students for both basic skills and more advanced simulations. Jeffries (2012) detailed the framework needed for simulations, indicating that simulations must have objectives, planning, fidelity, cues, and debriefing. Debriefing occurs after the simulation is complete. According to Mariani, Cantrell, and Meakim (2014), "Debriefing is a collaborative learning experience in which reciprocal learning occurs between faculty and student, as well as among students in a safe environment" (p. 330). During the debriefing, students and faculty can reflect on the simulation to aid in the learning process.

#### **Increase in Simulation Use**

A lack of both clinical space and clinical faculty are factors in students experiencing more clinical simulation than in previous years. With an increase of 151% in nursing programs in the state of Florida since 2009, hospitals have experienced a significant increase in students needing to complete their clinical rotations (OPPAGA, 2015). This has placed a strain on the hospital systems and reduced the available clinical time for existing programs. To address the issue of limited clinical space, nursing faculty members have begun to use other ways to support their lectures, including simulation (Dowie, 2011). With a lack of clinical faculty, nursing programs have begun to use simulation to more efficiently utilize the faculty they have (Richardson, Goldsamt, Simmons, Gilmartin, & Jeffries, 2014). This is not only a state issue, it is also an issue nationwide.

Howell and James (2012) described the problem created by an increase in student nurse population at Morehead University, Kentucky, and unchanging clinical site availability. The nursing department at Morehead has addressed this issue of limited clinical space by using clinical simulation to enhance their students' learning. The NLN report on the Annual Survey of Schools of Nursing for academic year 2013- 2014 indicated that 41% of bachelor of science in nursing programs stated that the main obstacle to admitting students to capacity was a lack of clinical space (NLN, 2015). The lack of clinical space is affecting nursing schools everywhere, not just in the United States. International schools have begun to experience issues associated with the decline of clinical availability as well. Dowie (2011) wrote that nursing faculty in the United Kingdom have seen a decrease in availability of training sites for students due to rising staff shortages and decreasing budgets. This has led nursing faculty to begin using alternate methods of teaching clinical skills, and the most popular method has been simulation. Some colleges have changed their curricula due to the lack of clinical space. Dutile, Wright, and Beauchesne (2011) described the situation in the School of Nursing at Northeastern University in Boston, Massachusetts: "Multiple factors such as shortage of nursing faculty and increasingly competitive clinical sites have encouraged nurse educators to seek alternative pedagogies to supplement traditional hands-on clinical practice" (p. 43).

Use of simulation training is common in other industries including aviation and military (Lateef, 2010) and in healthcare programs other than nursing. Allied health programs also use simulation to educate their students. Paramedic programs use simulation-based assessments (SBA). Tavares, LeBlanc, Mausz, Sun, and Eva (2014) discussed the goals of the SBA for its paramedic students, "One of the goals of SBA is to extrapolate the observations collected in a simulated environment to enable inferences to be drawn about future performance in real clinical contexts with real patients" (p. 116). Respiratory care departments and other medical professionals have also begun using simulation across the United States to help educate, create a strong clinical foundation, and increase confidence (Hanlon, 2014). Students believe that integrating the theory of what they are learning in simulation allows them to apply the information in a real situation (Bevan, Joy, Keeley, & Brown, 2015). "Experience in these settings has shown to develop the clinical skills that can be synthesized, retained, and applied in clinical

practice" (Frick et al., 2014, p. 9). Clinical simulation is common in different aspects of healthcare education, and each profession has its reason for using simulation to educate its students.

#### **Student Perception of Satisfaction**

When using simulation, positive student perceptions are necessary for a successful simulation program. In a large-scale study conducted by Hayden et al. (2014) that prompted the state of Florida to allow an increase in simulation use up to 50% of required clinical hours, student satisfaction with simulation was not studied. Other researchers have, however, examined student perceptions. Research on nursing student perceptions on incorporating simulation to help teach obstetrics revealed that students were excited. One student stated, "The technology was awesome. I enjoyed seeing the heart rate monitors on both the mother and baby actually working, rather than just seeing a photo in a text" (Partin, Payne, & Slemmons, 2011, p. 187). In a study conducted by Casida and Shpakoff (2012) to investigate the effectiveness of high fidelity simulation, participants included baccalaureate level nursing students. Students believed that (a) more simulation was needed in the program, (b) simulation should be introduced early in the nursing program, and (c) simulation was a great way for nursing students to learn. Different students may have different opinions of simulation; some researchers have examined variables within simulation that may affect student perceptions.

Published research on simulation has revealed a focus on different variables regarding student perceptions. Researchers comparing student perceptions of low fidelity versus high fidelity simulation showed that students were satisfied regardless of the type of simulation (Tosterud et al., 2013). The integration of simulation of different levels of fidelity into nursing education has received positive feedback from different types of students. Millennial students reported a positive experience and expressed the belief that the simulators and scenarios enhanced their critical thinking and overall learning experience (Montenery et al., 2013). Whether it was low fidelity, high fidelity, or millennial students, student perceptions of simulation have been positive.

Students enjoy simulations for a variety of reasons. Key themes found in research using simulation in a community-based home visit course were that (a) students believed the simulation was realistic, (b) it was fun, (c) they were able to think creatively, and (d) they enjoyed being in the role (Wheeler & McNelis, 2014). Improving students' safety practices with simulation resulted in helping students become more comfortable with reporting and investigating errors (Mariani, Cantrell, Meakim, & Jenkinson, 2015). In Guhde's 2011 investigation of the use of simulation to assess thinking, assessment, and learner satisfaction, students contended that simulation should be used in all courses. Students reported that simulation was beneficial because they could experience being a nurse, and it forced them to think critically while doing the simulation (Guhde, 2011). Student perceptions of satisfaction is not the only variable that has been researched in regard to simulation. Another variable that has been researched using clinical simulation is student self-confidence.

#### **Self-Confidence and Simulation**

Self-confidence is based on an individual's self-esteem, sense of self, sense of efficacy, and experiences related to the setting (Perry, 2011). Self-confidence and student

satisfaction were two variables not addressed in the NCSBN study (Hayden et al., 2014). Because this major study has been responsible for Florida's increasing simulation use in nursing programs, and nursing faculty are integrating simulation into the curriculum to help build self-confidence in students prior to working with real patients, additional research on self-confidence is needed.

Many researchers have supported the use of clinical simulation in building selfconfidence in nursing students. Using the NLN Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence tool, Lewis and Ciak (2011) confirmed positive results for nursing students' selfconfidence when investigating the effectiveness of a simulation laboratory experience for learning. In 2014, Hampson and Cantrell used pre- and postsimulation self-efficacy surveys that showed an increase in students' abilities to assess their patients while using standardized patients (Hampson & Cantrell, 2014). After using high fidelity simulation and concept mapping, "Students reported an increase in self-confidence because of the overall experience" (Samawi, Miller, & Haras, 2014, p. 408). Many variations of simulation technology have assisted students in building their self-confidence.

Several studies have shown that using simulation in nursing education does indeed help students build confidence in themselves and their nursing skills. Mould, White, and Gallagher (2011) demonstrated that simulation scenarios were effective and that nursing students improved their self-confidence and competence. Findings in a study investigating the use of low fidelity simulation with sophomore nursing students were encouraging in promoting active and diverse learning for nursing students. However, trying to test students' confidence and critical thinking was a greater task than expected (Sharpnack & Madigan, 2012). Alfes (2011) compared the effectiveness of simulation to that of traditional skills laboratories and discovered that students' confidence in their skills increased with the simulation experience. Although these researchers focused on self-confidence in clinical simulations, other researchers have studied the relationship between clinical simulation and critical thinking.

#### **Critical Thinking**

A necessary outcome in nursing education programs is the development of critical thinking skills (National League for Nursing Accrediting Commission, 2004). Because critical thinking is an important attribute of future nurses, it is crucial that nursing faculty structure curricula to help teach these necessary skills. Helping students understand the importance of critical thinking skills can be a challenging task for educators. "Educators have to equip nursing students with skills that promote their critical thinking to solve complex issues" (Kaddoura, 2011, p. 1). In one study, critical thinking scores of freshman and senior nursing students were compared using the California Critical Thinking Test. Both groups were low in critical thinking, and completing the nursing program did not affect the students' critical thinking scores (Aziz-Fini, Hajibagheri, & Adib-Hajbaghery, 2015). Because data have shown over time that nursing students lack critical thinking skills and the importance of these skills has been documented, nursing programs have increasingly used clinical simulation to help students gain the skills that they need.

Additional factors in simulation and their relationship to students' critical thinking scores are topics in other researchers' studies. Shin et al. (2015) researched nursing students' exposure to simulation and examined how it affected their critical thinking

skills. Students exposed to more simulations had significant gains in critical thinking (Shin et al., 2015). "Clinical simulations provide a safe working environment for students to practice technical skills as well as to develop critical thinking skills based on an interpretation of patient variables" (Wane & Lotz, 2013. p. 163). In a quasi-experimental study, researchers explored the effects of low versus high fidelity simulation on critical thinking scores. Both groups showed an increase in critical thinking ability (Goodstone et al., 2013). In the study conducted by Goodstone et al. (2013), regardless of the level of fidelity, exposing students to realistic experiences helped increase their critical thinking skills. Though many researchers have found that simulation increases students' critical thinking abilities, Lapkin et al. (2010) found in their meta-analysis of simulation studies that change in the level of clinical reasoning was inconclusive. The present study was conducted to explore the differences in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between two groups of students receiving either 15 or 30 clinical simulation hours.

#### Implications

Nursing faculty have begun to experience a shortage of clinical sites for their students. One solution to this, according to Sharpnack and Madigan (2012), was to use clinical simulation to help students experience clinical situations. Previous researchers have revealed positive student perceptions regarding clinical simulation. Students enjoy the technology of simulation and benefit from the simulated experience (Partin et al., 2011). Goodstone et al. (2013) found that students' critical thinking scores improved with more clinical simulation experience. It was posited that if this study resulted in positive findings with regard to student perceptions, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores that could be attributed to simulation time increases, the local nursing program may continue increasing the use of clinical simulation. A possible project that may emerge as a result of the research in this study was the development of a curriculum plan. At the time of the study, courses at the local college were testing using 25% of clinical simulation in exchange for clinical time. The findings of this study may warrant an increase to 50% as allowed by the state legislature. Identifying a curriculum plan will help faculty members when using clinical simulation.

#### Summary

The local problem was that program faculty were concerned that students were not benefitting as much from the simulation experience as they would in a real clinical environment. Faculty were concerned that students were not satisfied, did not have selfconfidence, and did not use critical thinking skills. Due to the lack of clinical space, the local nursing program was increasing the use of simulation to compensate for the decrease in clinical site availability. There are existing studies on student perceptions of simulation for satisfaction and self-confidence, and researchers have linked simulation and critical thinking in students. The present study was conducted to explore differences in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between groups of students receiving varied amounts of clinical simulation. Findings from this study may help not only the local college but other colleges in the state, as the change in legislation was statewide. Nursing faculty can review these data to determine if there are needed changes to the curriculum in relation to student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores. The next section presents the methodology used to conduct the study.
#### Section 2: The Methodology

## Introduction

This section describes the methodology of this study. It includes the different components of the study including the research design, the setting, and the sampling methods. Also outlined are the instruments and data analysis for this study. This section also includes assumptions, limitations, and ethical considerations.

#### **Research Design and Approach**

For this research, I conducted a mixed methods study using a one-time survey format to collect data from two different groups of students, interviews of nursing faculty, and analysis of student reflection papers on simulation. According to Fowler (2009), common survey techniques measure opinions and perceptions. In this study, I measured student perceptions about clinical simulation using a survey. Babbie (1990) observed that survey research is appropriate to examine relationships between variables in a population using a sample. It allows the researcher to collect data and confirm a theory about social behavior. Using a survey, a causal-comparative study allowed me to collect data from two different groups of nursing students (the independent variables). Data collected from their perceptions of satisfaction and self-confidence and their critical thinking scores allowed me to explore the differences between the two groups.

For this study, I used two existing instruments to collect quantitative data. Quantitative research allowed me to test a theory and support or reject the hypotheses based on attitudes of the participants (Creswell, 2009). Collecting quantitative survey data enabled me to test hypotheses based on student perceptions of simulation.

Other research methods include qualitative and mixed methods. In qualitative research, investigators explore topics of interest and collect data with different approaches, including interviews and case studies (Creswell, 2009). A qualitative design was not initially planned for this study. One reason is that in previous research, researchers measured the same concepts and used valid and reliable instruments and those same instruments were used in this study. Also, the purpose of this study was not exploratory, which is an appropriate rationale for qualitative research. In mixed methods research, both qualitative and quantitative research are used. Mixed methods was not initially planned for this study; however, due to an underpowered quantitative study, qualitative data were added. Quantitative data helps eliminate bias by using numbers, and there is no influencing results by the researcher's interpretation when using numerical data. A causal-comparative design was initially used instead of an experimental design, because randomization of participants in the two groups was not possible. Participants were in pre-existing groups as defined by their course enrollment. When qualitative data were added, it made this study a mixed methods design.

# Setting and Sample

The setting for this study was an associate degree-nursing program at a local college. Inclusion criteria included enrolled nursing students in the Basic Concepts of Medical Surgical (BMS) course and the Advanced Concepts of Medical Surgical (AMS) course at the local college. I used these two courses for this study because students enrolled in both courses gained clinical simulation experience. Students in the BMS course had approximately 15 hours of clinical simulation time and composed one group.

Students in the AMS course had approximately 30 hours of clinical simulation time and composed the second group.

For this study, I used a convenience sample. Convenience sampling is common because of the easy access to participants (Cooksey & McDonald, 2011). In each course, there were approximately 75-80 students. The ages of the students ranged from 18 to 45, with the majority of them falling into the 18-24 age range. In both courses, there were more females than males, 86.4% compared to 13.6% and 73% compared to 25.7%, respectively. Race/ethnicities included Caucasian, African American, Hispanic, and Asian, with Caucasian students making up 55.7% and 64.9% in the two courses. Exclusion criteria for participants were nursing students not enrolled in either of these two courses.

As a faculty member of the college, I had access to students enrolled in the nursing college who were potential participants. After IRB approval from Walden University (Walden approval no. 07-14-16-0389922) and the local college, I attended each class for a brief period of time to introduce the study and obtained e-mail addresses from students who were interested in participating in the study. The first semester I collected 100 e-mail addresses; in the second semester, I collected 91 e-mail addresses for a total of 191 potential participants. All students in the two courses received e-mails requesting their participation and an explanation of the study details. Students who agreed to participate in the study clicked on a link to the online survey and a second link to take the online critical thinking test, thereby giving their implied consent. As the program manager of another department in the allied health field, I had no authority over

the participants in this study. For this study, students enrolled in the two different nursing courses were potential participants and represented the nursing population at the local college.

G\*Power Version 3.1.9.2 (2014) software recommended a total sample size of 278 participants with a set effect size of 0.3,  $\alpha = 0.05$ , and Power  $(1-\beta) = .8$ . I had a potential sample size of approximately 150 participants from the two groups for each semester. In order to obtain the recommended sample size, I sought out other potential participants from other semesters. I collected data from the summer semester and the fall semester. According to Fowler (2009), using e-mail as a source of data collection is not ideal, especially if participants do not know the source of the sender. However, there are steps that can be taken to help maximize a positive response rate. To reduce nonresponse bias, I spoke to both classes prior to the beginning of the study to explain the study and collect student e-mails. The e-mail invitations included information to participate and explained why the study was taking place. If students chose not to participate, I sent follow up e-mails to again request participation. With these steps, and a potential pool of 150 participants.

After speaking with both classes each semester, I collected the e-mail addresses of 191 potential students out of a possible 236 students who could be invited to participate in the study. These students provided their e-mail address to me because they were interested in the study. Unfortunately, the overall participation rate was low. Of the 191 students, 34 (17.8%) participated in the survey and 12 (6.3%) completed the critical

thinking test. To help increase participation, I extended the data collection time during a period of no classes due to holiday break. Unfortunately, this did not help increase participation. Due to not collecting personal data from students, I was unable to determine which students completed the survey and not the critical thinking test. All quantitative data that were collected were used and analyzed.

## **Instrumentation and Materials**

To measure the dependent variables, I used two separate instruments, the NLN SSSCL and the CCTST. The following paragraphs contain a detailed description of each instrument including reliability, validity, and content.

Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning Survey. I used the SSCSL to measure two dependent variables, student perception of satisfaction and self-confidence. The SSCSL (2005) uses a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5 where 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = undecided, 4 = agree, and 5 = strongly agree regarding their satisfaction and self-confidence after experiencing simulations. The SSCSL measured student satisfaction with questions related to (a) teaching methods involved with simulation, (b) materials used during the simulation, and (c) students' enjoyment of the simulation. The SSCSL measured self-confidence with questions related to students' feeling confident that the simulation covered all skills for the course and their confidence in their ability to perform these skills. Reliability for this instrument using Cronbach's alpha for satisfaction = 0.94, self-confidence = 0.87 (NLN, 2016a).

Content validity for the NLN available instruments was accomplished by a panel of 10 content experts in testing and simulation development (NLN, 2016a). I administered the survey to each student online using Qualtrics. The NLN tool was not modified for this study. The SSCSL is a 13-item instrument with five items measuring student satisfaction and eight items measuring student self-confidence in learning. The mean score from the satisfaction and self-confidence sections of the survey was established for each student. Lewis and Ciak (2011) also used the SSSCL survey for their research to investigate the impact of simulation on students' self-confidence and satisfaction. They found that students' participation in simulation had a positive impact on satisfaction and self-confidence.

**California Critical Thinking Skills Test.** This test measured participants' critical thinking, the third dependent variable for this study. The design of the test allowed the test takers to demonstrate their critical thinking skills by answering questions to everyday scenarios. As the test continues, the difficulty of the questions increases (Insight Assessment, 2013). The California Critical Thinking Skills Test (CCTST) results provided quantitative data to measure analysis, deduction, induction, evaluation, inference, and overall reasoning skills (Insight Assessment, 2013). The scores included an overall score of critical thinking which I used for this study. Administration of the test took approximately 45-50 minutes, the test length established to allow for maximum performance. The reliability for the CCTST is the KR-20 coefficient; reliability coefficient for all tests offered by the company is 0.77-0.83 (Insight Assessment, 2013).

The validity for the CCTST is derived from results of the APA Delphi Research Study (1988-1990). Scales on the CCTST correspond with the reports of critical thinking skills, and items were tested for over 20 years and went through all validation studies (Insight Assessment, 2013). For this study, each participant took this test via an online platform. In other research, this test was used to measure nursing students' critical thinking skills. Yuan, Kunaviktikul, Klunklin, and Williams (2008) conducted a study using the CCTST to measure pre- and postcritical thinking skills after problem-based learning was implemented. Fero et al. (2010) also used the CCTST to examine a relationship between critical thinking skills and nursing students' performance in simulated clinical scenarios.

The NLN SSSCL survey is available for review in Appendix B. The NLN made this instrument available for individual researchers for noncommercial use. The link for this instrument is listed on the reference page under National League for Nursing, descriptions of available instruments. Due to copyright laws, the CCTST instrument is not available for publication; therefore it has not been included in an appendix. However, more information on the test can be accessed at the link located on the reference page under Insight Assessment. Tables depicting the difference between the independent and dependent variables are available in the data analysis section.

#### **Data Collection Analysis Results**

I collected data from the NLN SSSCL, and the CCTST. Students in the BMS course have approximately 15 hours of previous clinical simulation time, and students enrolled in the AMS course have approximately 30 hours of clinical simulation. After completing their simulation experience, each student received an e-mail with the survey and the critical thinking test online links. The critical thinking test determined each

student's critical thinking score, and the survey provided data on each student's perception of satisfaction and self-confidence.

After data collection was completed, I had data on 34 students for the survey and 12 for the critical thinking test. These data were separated into two separate groups based on students' course of enrollment (BMS or AMS). I input the data for the three dependent variables into SPSS. Each variable for this study produced interval scales. Data cleaning took place in SPSS to make sure all data were valid. In this study, no data were out of range or missing. Once data cleaning was complete, I ran descriptive statistics on the three dependent variables for each data set. Descriptive statistics, including the mean, mode, standard deviation, median, and range, are available for review in tables.

Once descriptive statistics were complete, I conducted an independent *t* test to explore the difference between the mean scores of student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores in each group. This test determined if there was a difference between the means of the two independent groups (Laerd, 2015). Using this statistical analysis allowed me to explore the differences, if any, between the independent variable (group membership) and all three dependent variables (student perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores).

## **Protection of Participants' Rights**

Before conducting the research study, I received approval from the Institutional Review Board at the target college and Walden University. A review of all ethical considerations took place. According to Bishop-Clark and Dietz-Uhler (2012) ethical considerations involve informed consent from the participants, the right to protect the privacy of participants, the risk of no harm, and debriefing. Prior to beginning the study, I attended each class from which participants were drawn. I introduced myself, explained the purpose of the study, and informed potential participants that they would receive an e-mail with more information. There was no collection of demographic data or personal information during the data collection process to keep all data anonymous. No physical or psychological harm occurred to participants while conducting the study. Participation in the study did not have an impact on students' grades within the nursing courses. All instruments used and data collected remain under my supervision and locked via password access on my computer. After 5 years, I will destroy all data collected for this study.

## Summary

This study took place at a local college with a two-year associate degree-nursing program. I used mixed methods research with a one-shot survey format for this study. Using two groups with different amounts of clinical simulation experience, I explored differences in student perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores. Data collection took place via an online survey and an online critical thinking test. Once data were collected, an independent *t* test analysis determined if there was a difference in the means of the two groups. Participants for this study were in either the BMS or AMS course at the local college. No personal data were collected, and students had the right to not participate. The findings of this study were intended to aid faculty members with curriculum development and clinical simulation.

#### **Research Findings**

The purpose of this study was to explore differences, if any, in student perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between two groups of students receiving 15 or 30 hours of clinical simulation. Data collected consisted of quantitative data from nursing students' satisfaction and self-confidence survey and a critical thinking skills test. Qualitative data included reflection papers of students and nursing faculty interviews. Data were analyzed using SPSS. The results of all analyses are presented using narratives and supportive tables for descriptive statistics and independent *t* test results. The NLN created the survey that measured student satisfaction and self-confidence and the CCTST was purchased from Insight Assessment.

## **Data Analyses for Student Satisfaction**

The first dependent variable in this study was student satisfaction. Student satisfaction for this study was measured by the NLN survey. The survey is available for review in Appendix B. A Likert scale of 1-5 was used to measure agreement with a statement from 1(*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). This portion of the survey was comprised of five questions. The five items were related to teaching methods, materials used, and student's enjoyment of the simulation. The research question for student satisfaction was:

RQ1: What is the difference, if any, in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

 $H_01$ : There is no difference in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

 $H_{a}$ 1: There is a difference in student satisfaction between students receiving

15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida. Table 1 lists the descriptive statistics for student satisfaction for this study. The AMS group, which had 30 clinical simulation hours, had 15 participants, and the BMS group, which had 15 clinical simulation hours, had 19 participants. The mean for the AMS was slightly higher than the BMS group, the median for the AMS group was higher than the BMS group, and the ranges for the BMS group was higher than the AMS group.

#### Table 1

Descriptive Statistics for Student Satisfaction

Course	п	Mean	SD	Median	Range
AMS	15	21.0	3.04	22	17-25
BMS	19	20.2	4.00	20	9-25
11 11 10 1	1 10		la 1 a		· ~

*Note*. AMS = Advanced Concepts of Medical Surgical Course. BMS = Basic Concepts for Medical Surgical Course.

The inferential analysis used was the independent *t* test, and the results of this analysis are in Table 2. Levene's Test was conducted to test the homogeneity of variances of the two groups. The Levene's Test was not significant (p = .930); thus, the assumption was met and the group variances were not significantly different. An independent *t* test was run to determine if there were significant differences in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus students receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida. There was no significant difference between the means of the AMS group and the BMS group (p = .560). The results fail to reject the null hypothesis for student satisfaction. There was no significant difference in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus students receiving 15 hours versus students receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida. There was no significant difference in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus students receiving 15 hours versus no significant difference in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus students receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

A statistical power analysis was performed to determine the power for each test based on these results. For student satisfaction, a post hoc power analysis determined the power was 0.16. An adequate power is 0.80. This low power shows that there was not enough power to run the analyses and an increased risk for type II error. Type II error is when you fail to reject the null hypothesis when you should have. Low participation for student satisfaction caused this research question to be underpowered, and the small power of 0.16 supports that.

Table 2

t test for Student Satisfaction

t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
.589	32	560

# **Data Analyses for Self-Confidence**

The second dependent variable in this study was student self-confidence. Selfconfidence was also measured by the NLN survey. The survey is available for review in Appendix B. A Likert scale of 1 -5 was used to measure agreement with a statement where 1 (*strongly disagree*), 2 (*disagree*), 3 (*undecided*), 4 (*agree*), and 5 (*strongly agree*). This portion was comprised of eight questions related to students' feeling confident that the simulation covered all skills for the course and their confidence in their ability to perform these skills. The research question for self-confidence was:

RQ2: What is the difference, if any, in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

 $H_02$ : There is no difference in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.  $H_a2$ : There is a difference in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

Table 3 contains the descriptive statistics for self-confidence for this study. The AMS group, which had 30 clinical simulation hours, had 15 participants, and the BMS group, which had 15 clinical simulation hours, had 19 participants. The means for both groups were similar. The median for both groups were the same, and the ranges were also similar.

### Table 3

## Descriptive Statistics for Self Confidence

Course	п	Mean	SD	Median	Range
AMS	15	33.8	4.64	35	24-40
BMS	19	33.7	4.58	35	23-40

*Note*. AMS = Advanced Concepts of Medical Surgical Course. BMS = Basic Concepts for Medical Surgical Course.

The results of the independent *t* test are displayed in Table 4. Levene's Test was conducted to test the homogeneity of variances of the group. The Levene's Test was not significant (p = .776), thus, the assumption was met and the group variances were not significantly different. An independent *t* test was run to determine if there was a difference in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida. There was no statistical difference between the means of the AMS group and the BMS group (p = .935). The results failed to reject the null hypothesis for self-confidence. There was no

difference in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

A statistical power analysis was performed to determine the power for each test based on the results. For student self-confidence, a post hoc power analysis determined the power was 0.06. This low power shows that there was not enough power to run the analyses and an increased risk for type II error. Type II error is when you fail to reject the null hypothesis when you should have. Low participation for student self-confidence caused this research question to be underpowered, and the small power of 0.06 supports that.

Table 4

t test for Self-Confidence

t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
.082	32	.935

## **Data Analyses for Critical Thinking**

The third dependent variable was critical thinking. Insight Assessments' California Critical Thinking Skills Test measured critical thinking for this study. Due to copyright laws and the integrity of the test, it was not available for review. Students received a login to access the test on Insight Assessment's website. The test took students approximately 40 - 45 minutes to complete. An overall reasoning score was generated along with scores on analysis, deduction, induction, evaluation, inference, and overall reasoning skills. For the purpose of this study, each student's overall reasoning score was used. The research question for critical thinking was:

RQ3: What is the difference, if any, in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

 $H_03$ : There is no difference in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

 $H_a$ 3: There is a difference in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

Table 5 lists the descriptive statistics for critical thinking. Due to the longer time constraint of the critical thinking test, fewer students participated. The AMS group had six participants and the BMS group had six participants. The mean for the BMS was slightly higher than the AMS group, and the medians were the same, but the ranges were higher for the AMS group.

Table 5

Course	п	Mean	SD	Median	Range
AMS	6	72.50	6.57	73	61-79
BMS	6	74.83	5.15	73	71-85

Descriptive Statistics for Critical Thinking

*Note*. AMS = Advanced Concepts of Medical Surgical Course. BMS = Basic Concepts for Medical Surgical Course.

The results of the independent *t* test are presented in Table 6. Levene's Test was conducted to test the homogeneity of variances of the group. The Levene's Test was not significant (p = .530), thus, the assumption was met. An independent *t* test was run to determine if there were differences in nursing student critical thinking between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida. There was no significant difference between the means of the AMS group and the BMS group (p = .509). The results failed to reject the null hypothesis for critical thinking. There was no significant difference in nursing student critical thinking between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing between students for critical thinking. There was no significant difference in nursing student critical thinking between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing between students receiving 15 hours versus those receiving 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida.

A statistical power analysis was also performed to determine the power for critical thinking. A post hoc power analysis determined the power was 0.15. This low power shows that there was not enough power to run the analyses and an increased risk for type II error. Type II error is when you fail to reject the null hypothesis when you should have. For this portion of the study there were fewer participants than the first two research questions and as a result, the study was underpowered.

Table 6

t test for Critical Thinking

t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
.685	10	.509

In summary, for all three dependent variables, there was no significant difference between student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking for nursing students that had received different amounts of clinical simulation time. Thus, for each research question, there was a failure to reject the null hypothesis.

## Assumptions

Assumptions are when someone reads the research and thinks that things are assumed to be true; however, they need verification. The first assumption was that all participants answered the survey questions truthfully. The second assumption was that every participant took the critical thinking skills test seriously and answered those questions correctly. The third assumption was that all students received the accurate amount of simulation time and were tested the same. If any of these assumptions were not true, this would alter the results of the study.

#### Limitations

There were a few limitations for this study for both the quantitative and qualitative sections. One is that the students in the AMS course have been in the nursing program a semester longer than the BMS students. The additional education and training could affect students' perceptions and critical thinking scores overall, and this can potentially alter the results of the study. A second limitation is the inadequate power and the increased chance of a type II error. The number of potential study participants was only 191, and G\*power software had a recommended sample size of 278 participants. This created a risk for a Type II error due to low power. The low power reduced the likelihood of detecting an effect in the study. The lower the power, the higher the chance of a Type II error which raises the risk of failing to reject the null hypothesis even when it is false. An additional limitation was the threat to internal validity from a poor response

rate to the survey and critical thinking test. The length of the critical thinking test was an additional limitation for this study. For the qualitative section the limitation was due to the reflection paper not allowing students to provide more negative feedback about the simulation. The way the assignment was written it was guided more for positive feedback rather than negative feedback. Students names were removed prior to sending to me, however, this was an assignment rather than an anonymous reflection therefore this may have affected student responses.

The survey response rate was 17.8 % and the critical thinking test response rate was 6.2 %. Faculty members informed me that participants were overwhelmed with their existing course work in the nursing program and the time necessary to complete the critical thinking test resulted in low participation. The low response rate resulted in non-response bias. According to Fowler (2009) non-response bias is the percentage of selected participants who did not respond who are biased which means they may differ from the population being surveyed. In this study, the high percentage of selected participants who did not participate could affect the results. There may have been reasons why participants did not complete the survey and critical thinking test. However, if the reason was related to their perceptions of simulation, this could have given rise to bias and could have altered the results of the study if they had participated. It students who did not participate in the study did not like simulations then the data collected would have a bias toward positive student perceptions. If students who did not participate liked simulations, then this may have created a bias toward negative student perceptions.

# Scope

The scope of this study was confined to survey responses and critical thinking scores of students enrolled in the BMS course and the AMS courses at the local college. The independent variable was the group membership based on clinical simulation time. Three dependent variables included student perception of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores.

# Delimitations

This study was limited to students enrolled in the nursing program in two particular classes. I chose the two courses due to the amount of simulation associated with the courses. Students that had less than 15 hours of clinical simulation or greater than 30 hours were not participants in the study.

### **Qualitative Approach**

Due to low participation and an underpowered study, a qualitative portion was added to the existing study to enhance the results from the quantitative portion. The following section is the research design and approach used in the qualitative portion of the study. Detailed information is provided related to the participants, the data collection process, and the data analysis.

## **Research Design and Approach**

For the project study, a sequential mixed methods study design was used. First, quantitative data were collected and then, due to the low power and poor response rate, qualitative data were collected. The theoretical framework for this study was andragogy, which is defined as the science of helping adults learn (Knowles, 1970). Qualitative research allows the researcher to understand participants' experiences (Merriam, 2009). For this study, I used documents from student reflections of a simulated clinical day, archival data, and I conducted faculty interviews. These data allowed me to better understand student reflections of simulation and faculty perceptions of nursing students' satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. The three research questions were:

RQ1. What is the difference, if any, in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

RQ2. What is the difference, if any, in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

RQ3. What is the difference, if any, in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

The nursing students were required to write a reflection paper with a minimum of 500 words, including their thoughts and feelings about the simulation day, if they believed the objectives were met, and if they believed they needed improvement in their clinical performance. This reflection aligns with students' satisfaction and self-confidence with simulation. Faculty interviews were also conducted to collect qualitative data about faculty perceptions of student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking within their courses.

# **Participants**

For this portion of the study, a convenience sample was used. A convenience sample is established when the researcher chooses participants based on availability and accessibility (Yin, 2010). As a faculty member, I have access to nursing faculty and nursing students. Before starting my qualitative research, I submitted changes in my study to the site IRB and received approval to make the changes. Participants for the qualitative portion of the study were nursing students who wrote the reflection papers and four faculty members who were interviewed. Two faculty members taught the AMS course and two taught the BMS course. I used iterative sampling while reviewing the reflection papers completed by 70 students. During iterative sampling the researcher reviews data until no new information is found and saturation is met (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006). All data were kept confidential, and I obtained informed consent from the faculty members prior to the start of the study. I received approval from the nursing program director and dean of nursing to review the papers for this study. All student reflection papers were de-identified, so no identifiable student information was used in the data. For faculty interviews, pseudonyms were used to protect confidentiality.

# **Data Collection for Qualitative Sequence**

Two instruments were used for the qualitative data collection. The first was a reflection paper completed by nursing students and the second was an interview protocol for faculty developed by the researcher. The interview protocol is available for review in Appendix C. The reflection paper was completed by nursing students after a clinical simulation day. The reflection paper directions are available in Appendix D. The papers

include the students' thoughts and feelings for the day, if they met the objectives for the simulation, if they could identify any clinical performance improvements, and what they took away from the experience that would help them in their clinical experience. While it was 500 word minimum for the assignment, many students wrote more than 500 words so that they could adequately express how they felt about the simulation day.

The questions I asked faculty members in the interview included questions as to whether faculty members believed the simulations were helpful and effective for their courses. I also asked if they felt simulations enhanced student learning, if students had expressed concerns about their satisfaction or self-confidence, if students lacked critical thinking abilities, and if they believed that simulation affected students' critical thinking ability.

I emailed the nursing faculty in the medical surgical courses, explaining the study and requesting their participation. The informed consent forms were delivered to the faculty members via e-mail for their review. Once they gave informed consent, a 30minute interview time was arranged. Interviews were conducted in faculty offices, and I recorded them using my cell phone. Once the interviews were transferred to my computer and password protected, I deleted the audio from my phone. Student reflection papers were emailed to me by nursing faculty after I received IRB approval. All reflection papers were deidentified and no student information was collected.

#### **Qualitative Data Analysis**

Content analysis was used for all qualitative data. After faculty interviews were transcribed, reviewed, and analyzed. I sent the faculty interview transcripts back to the

participants for transcript review. After faculty approved, faculty interviews were open coded for common themes among the research questions. Student reflections were also open coded. According to Strauss and Corbin (1990) open coding is "the process of breaking down, examining, comparing, conceptualizing, and categorizing data" (p. 61). I clustered the analysis based on the three concepts in the three research questions: student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. The results included qualitative themes from the reflection summaries and faculty interviews for the BMS and AMS nursing courses. Though the data in some cases may not have directly related to my initial findings, I posited that the data would be complementary to my initial quantitative research.

#### **Qualitative Research Findings**

#### **Data Analyses for Faculty Interviews**

The purpose of the qualitative portion was to explore differences, if any, in student perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between groups of students receiving varied amounts of clinical simulation. Data collected consisted of faculty interviews with four faculty members, two who taught the AMS course and two who taught the BMS course. All interviews were audio recorded and each faculty member was asked the same questions. After the interview, transcripts were shared with each faculty member for review prior to writing this data analysis section. Interviews were coded for the three common themes, (i.e., student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking). Each theme is discussed in detail in the following sections.

#### **Data Analysis for Student Satisfaction**

The research question for student satisfaction was: What is the difference, if any, in nursing student satisfaction between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

Faculty members for both the AMS course and the BMS course had heard positive and negative feedback about clinical simulation from nursing students. The one major concern for both courses was that some students did not like being put on the spot or feeling as if they were on stage in front of everyone. Following this feedback, nursing faculty have made adjustments so other students can watch via video feed rather than being in the room with the participating students. Although a few students had some negative feelings about clinical simulation, the majority of the students were very favorable toward it. Faculty members from both courses had heard positive feedback from students, (e.g., they enjoy working in the safe simulated clinical environment). One faculty member stated, "It's just the matter of helping them understand that our simulation are never high-stakes. They are all educationally focused. I want them to make mistakes, and I encourage mistakes." Students like this and feel that clinical simulation is more valuable to them as an educational tool; it brings theory and actual skills together. Between the two nursing courses at this college, there was no difference in nursing student satisfaction with clinical simulation.

#### **Data Analysis for Self-Confidence**

The research question for self-confidence was: What is the difference, if any, in nursing student self-confidence between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

The BMS course faculty had more to say in regard to nursing students' selfconfidence than did the AMS course faculty. Both BMS faculty members stated that students' confidence was typically low at the beginning of the semester, but as they were able to practice skills and participate in simulations, their confidence grew. One BMS faculty member stated, "I think there's a confidence kind of being built from the fact that they are able to transfer knowledge from one course simulation to a second course simulation."

The AMS course faculty members believed that their nursing students' confidence was present, however, the students start to second guess themselves or are too critical because they know what they should and should not be doing. One AMS faculty member stated, "They are very concerned about how this is the second to the last semester before they're actually taking care of patients on their own." Although students in both courses seemed to have self-confidence concerns, they appeared for different reasons. The BMS course students lacked self-confidence only because they had not had the hands-on experience early in the semester; rather they gained it as the semester progressed. The AMS course students had self-confidence. However, they displayed nervousness as they moved closer to being finished and on to their practical.

### **Data Analysis for Critical Thinking**

The research question for critical thinking was: What is the difference, if any, in nursing student critical thinking scores between students receiving 15 hours versus 30 hours of simulation at a local nursing program in Florida?

The nursing faculty for both courses believed that clinical simulation has helped students with critical thinking and has helped improve their test scores. One AMS course faculty member stated, "They definitely grow in our course as far as critical thinking, because, again, they come from basic medical surgical, and more of our questions and our exams are analyzing and applying to the content." The other faculty member in that course agreed that students' critical thinking improved and test scores had increased, but she expressed the belief that critical thinking comes with experience from real life experiences, not being a student in a clinical setting or sitting in a classroom. One BMS course faculty stated in regards to clinical simulation, "I think it impacts it tremendously, because it forces them to think about a situation from a variety of viewpoints." Faculty members in both courses believed that critical thinking was improved with clinical simulation, whether it be on an examination where they can reflect on their experience or while they are participating in the scenario and treating a patient.

## **Data Analyses for Student Reflections**

The student reflection papers included the individual student's thoughts and feelings for the day, if objectives for the simulation were met, noting any clinical performance improvements, and knowledge that they gained that will help them in their clinical experience. I reviewed 37 student reflection papers of the simulation experience, open coding the themes from the papers. Satisfaction with the simulations, selfconfidence, and critical thinking were common themes in the students' papers. Because these papers were from students in the whole nursing program and not just the AMS course and BMS course, each theme is discussed as a whole.

The majority of the students were very satisfied with the clinical simulation. One student stated, "The best part that made the simulation such an effective learning experience was putting into practice everything we have learned this semester." Students found the simulation to be fun and engaging. They also enjoyed the environment of the simulation, because it was safe and they could learn from their mistakes without causing harm to a patient. Another student stated, "This simulation was honestly, the most engaging and fun experience I have had so far at the college." Students were proud of themselves after the simulations and indicated they wanted more simulation in the program.

Self-confidence was another common theme in the reflection papers. Students were not only confident in themselves, but also in their classmates and clinical groups. They were confident in their skills, communication with patients and peers, and their knowledge. One student reflected, "I also believe that by actively participating in the simulation, I gained trust in myself about the knowledge that I hold." The students expressed that being able to take what they learned in class and use that information in a clinical setting gave them more confidence overall.

Students believed that clinical simulation helped with their critical thinking skills. They also learned that remaining calm helps with critical thinking. One student wrote, "My big take away from this experience is to not panic because it is not conducive to critical thinking." Another student observed, "It was exhilarating to be thrown into a realistic scenario with a patient, where I was forced to critically think and act." Critical thinking happened at various points throughout the simulation for students. Some reflected on it after the scenario was completed, and other students were able to critically think during the scenario. One student wrote, "It was required of us to implement the critical thinking needed to adjust to care of the patients.... This was much more than we were able to see in a complete day of clinical."

After reviewing the student reflection papers, it was evident that there was a majority positive response to clinical simulation from the majority of the nursing students. However, a small number of students expressed concern about the simulations. One student's reflection paper expressed concern about being uncomfortable because they felt like they were on stage. Others felt anxious about the simulations because they did not know what to expect. Another student recommended allowing students to have an orientation to the simulator. They stated, "When I went to assess the baby, I was not sure what the doll could and could not do." Overall, many students stated that they would like to see more simulation used in the program. They enjoyed the safe environment, while practicing their skills and building their critical thinking skills and confidence.

Additional research was conducted to see if previous studies revealed students being dissatisfied with clinical simulation. All of the literature used for this project study had positive results for simulation from students. One recent review of studies showed that students did have higher stress levels associated with simulation, however, they felt that clinical simulation was a valuable learning tool (Cantrell, Meyer, & Mosack, 2017). While some students may feel hesitant about working with simulators, the overall feedback is that students enjoy the experience and would like to see it used more in their programs.

## Conclusion

The purpose of this sequential mixed methods study was to compare two different groups of nursing students to determine if there was a difference in their satisfaction, selfconfidence, and critical thinking because they had experienced different amounts of clinical simulation time. The BMS course students had 15 hours of clinical simulation and the AMS course students had 30 hours of clinical simulation. Quantitative data showed that there was no significant difference between the two groups of nursing students for satisfaction, self-confidence, or critical thinking. The qualitative portion of this study showed minimal difference between the two courses as well. This section presented the methodology of this study along with the findings. The next section will discuss the project for this study.

#### Section 3: The Project

## Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore differences in students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between two groups of students receiving either 15 or 30 hours of clinical simulation time. The quantitative portion of this study was underpowered due to the small sample size. This prompted a qualitative portion to be added to the study.

The quantitative findings revealed there was no significant difference between student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking for nursing students who had different amounts of clinical simulation time. Similarly, there was no difference in the qualitative findings regarding student satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. Therefore, based on the data from this mixed methods study, it was shown that an increase in clinical simulation did not affect satisfaction, self-confidence, or critical thinking in nursing students, and the nursing program can increase clinical simulation in the program with no deleterious impact. This project focused on utilizing more clinical simulation in the program. In this section, I present a 10-week curriculum plan (Appendix A), focused on the use of clinical simulation in the nursing program. The rationale for this project is explained in detail in the following section.

#### Rationale

Based on the study that was completed, comparing two different groups of nursing students with different amounts of simulation time and the results of this study, a curriculum plan was an ideal project for this study. A curriculum plan will guide nursing faculty to incorporate additional simulation into the program. Data showed that students enrolled in the BMS course and the AMS course had no significant difference in their perceptions for clinical simulation for satisfaction and self-confidence. This mixed method study did not find a significant difference in their critical thinking scores. Based on this study, the amount of clinical simulation time in the program did not affect students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, or their critical thinking. According to Florida Department of Education (2014), nursing programs in the state of Florida use clinical simulation up to 50% for overall clinical training. This curriculum plan was designed to help nursing programs use more clinical simulation in their programs. A review of literature supported this project.

## **Review of the Literature**

The curriculum plan was developed based on the findings of my study and my review of literature. The search was conducted through various databases including Proquest, ScienceDirect, CINAHL, and MEDLINE, CINAHL and MEDLINE Simultaneous Search, and CINAHL Plus. Search terms included *clinical simulation, nursing students, curriculum, nursing faculty, simulation development, implementation, evaluation,* and *training.* There was limited information on specific courses in nursing programs, because each program develops their own curriculum. The literature review focused on nursing education curriculum, topics for clinical simulation, clinical simulation implementation, and clinical simulation evaluation.

# **Nursing Education Curriculum**

Nursing programs are responsible for creating their own curriculum for each course. At the local college in Florida, nursing faculty have created curricula for nursing courses and included clinical simulation. This project will serve as a guide in adding additional simulation in the program. The Florida Nurse Practice Act (2016) stated that each program must have theoretical and clinical instruction in surgical, medical, obstetrics, pediatrics, and geriatric nursing. Each program must also have theoretical and clinical instruction in acute and long-term care, in addition to topics such as community health. Additionally, the Florida Nurse Practice Act (2016) regulates how many hours of clinical experiences nursing students must have. A bill was passed in 2014 that allows nursing programs in the State of Florida to increase their use of clinical simulation in lieu of actual clinical time from 25% to 50% (Florida Department of Education, 2014). Nursing programs' courses consist of theory and clinical/laboratory objectives. Clinical and laboratory objectives for the two courses that were used for this study are discussed.

At the local college where the study was conducted, the BMS course curricula has focused on basic nursing skills. According to the course outline, 35 hours are in the laboratory, and there are 100 clinical hours required. Clinical and laboratory activities include taking care of patients with pneumonia, diabetes, parental medication administration, and bladder catheter insertion and nasogastric tube insertion. The AMS course also requires of 35 laboratory hours and 100 clinical hours. Activities include taking care of patients with myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, pulmonary embolism, and deep vein thrombosis. In AMS, nursing students must also perform nasotracheal suction, tracheostomy care, dressing changes for central lines, blood administration, chest tubes, and electrocardiograms. Although the program already incorporates simulations in both courses, I will present a 10-week curriculum plan for the AMS course. The AMS course consists of additional skills students must successfully complete. Some skills can be combined into one simulation and conducted on the same patient. Specific topics that are suitable for clinical simulation are discussed in the following section.

## **Topics for Clinical Simulation**

Clinical simulation in nursing programs has increased over the years due to an increase in need of clinical experiences for nursing students (Cook, 2015). Nursing schools have the ability to use everything from basic task trainers to high fidelity simulators to train and prepare their students. The project curriculum plan will incorporate the use of high fidelity simulators to aid in making the experience more realistic for students. Many organizations such as Society for Simulation in Healthcare, International Nursing Association for Clinical Simulation & Learning, and the NLN give their support for nursing programs to use clinical simulation (Cook, 2015). Nursing programs must decide what curriculum will be taught using clinical simulation.

According to Hyland, Weeks, Ficorelli, and Vanderbeek-Warren (2012), "Simulation is an ideal teaching strategy for high risk/low-volume events in a safe environment" (p. 108). When students attend their clinical rotations, they encounter patients who are already admitted to the hospital. Nursing faculty assign patients to their students, but they have no control over the reasons these patients have been hospitalized or the specific patients to whom their students will be assigned. Simulation allows nursing faculty to expose students to situations that do not occur often but for which optimal performance is vital (Kane, Pye, & Jones, 2011). When working with student nurses, patient safety is a top concern.

According to Makary and Daniel (2016), medical errors are the leading cause of death in the United States. When placing students in clinical rotations, nursing faculty must look at important factors such as patient safety. Clinical simulation allows students to participate in experiences that occur infrequently but are critical, especially when patient safety is a concern (Park et al., 2013). According to Cooper et al., (2012) emergency obstetric training was frequently reported as a topic requiring practice in a simulated environment. During deliveries, there are two patients where lives are at risk. Practicing in a simulated environment allows nursing students to learn needed skills without any patient risk.

Other topics that may be better suited for simulation are end of life care and simulated death experience. People are living longer and developing more chronic conditions in the United States. Nursing students need to know how to care for these patients, especially at the end of their life (Fabro, Schaffer, & Scharton, 2014). Training nursing students in a simulated environment for chronic conditions and end of life care bridges the gap between the unknown, (i.e., how to care for these patients) and performing the skills necessary. End of life care can be difficult to teach nursing students due to the availability of these patients, and preceptors and nursing faculty's experience of taking care of these patients and their experience teaching end of life care (Kopka,

Aschenbrenner, & Reynolds, 2016). Implementing patient scenarios such as these into curricula can be a challenge. Other fields besides nursing are also using clinical simulation for various situations.

Clinical simulation is used in other education programs such as medical schools and paramedicine. Daglius Dias and Scalabrini Neto (2016) researched clinical simulation as to whether it provided a sufficiently stressful environment for medical residents in emergency care. Results showed no difference in stress levels in real environment versus clinical environment. The simulated environment showed to be realistic enough for students working in emergency care. Paramedic programs use clinical simulation for a number of skills. Their scope of practice ranges from prehospital clinical procedures to assisting other disciplines (Donaghy, 2016). Clinical simulation can be used for various disciplines and various topics. Clinical simulation implementation is discussed further in the following section.

## **Clinical Simulation Implementation**

When nursing programs increase their use of clinical simulation, a key step to implementation is having a team that can provide guidance and aid in the process of simulation implementation (Jefferies, 2012). Clinical simulation requires faculty who have been trained; the simulation learning objectives may not be met if the learning process varies (Coffman, Doolen, & Llasus, 2015). Standards were developed by the Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (2013), NCSBN (2012), and the Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing (2013) to ensure that faculty who are
training students with clinical simulation are academically and clinically qualified to do so.

There are training programs available to help ensure that faculty members are trained. Two of the major manufactures of simulators are Gaumard and Laerdal. Gaumard Scientific Company has developed simulators for healthcare training for over 60 years (Gaumard Scientific, 2016). Since the early 2000s, Laerdal Medical has produced products to aid in prehospital, hospital, and military simulations (Laerdal Medical, 2016). Both of these companies provide training that is included in the purchase of the simulators. There are also organizations for healthcare simulation such as the Society for Simulation in Healthcare. The Society for Simulation in Healthcare is a member-based organization that allows individuals interested in simulation to network and attend workshops and trainings to better educate themselves on healthcare simulation (Society for Simulation in Healthcare, 2016). Anyone can join this organization to learn more about simulation in health care. Nursing faculty members also have access to opportunities such as the Institute for Simulation Educators at the University of Maryland School of Nursing. The Institute has collaborated with the National League for Nursing to offer a three and one-half day forum that provides nursing faculty members with skills and knowledge on how to use simulation (Institute for Simulation Educators, 2016). Having faculty who are trained in simulation is important, although there are additional concerns when implementing clinical simulation.

Nursing faculty are challenged to integrate and facilitate clinical simulation in a way that it can meet the objectives of the course (Masters, 2014). Clinical simulation

should be a part of the curriculum, not considered an additional teaching method. According to Jefferies (2012), having a well-thought-out plan for simulation implementation including faculty, objectives, and evaluation tools will help overcome many of the challenges nursing programs face. Clinical simulation evaluation is discussed in the following section.

## **Clinical Simulation Evaluation**

Evaluating clinical simulation occurs at different levels. The nursing program evaluates clinical simulation at the course level and at the student level. According to Jefferies (2012) in order to properly determine the success of the simulation integration, an evaluation plan must be put in place. Nursing faculty may find it difficult to properly measure and evaluate simulation outcomes (Lancaster, Anderson, Jambunathan, Elertson, & Schmitt, 2015).

According to Schlairet (2011) there is a deficit of clinical simulation evaluation at the curriculum level. There are tools available, however, for proper evaluation of clinical simulation. Jefferies (2012) developed the Simulation Design Scale and the Educational Practices Simulation Scale. Moery and Gabel (2015) used both tools to evaluate the success of their educational plan in educating about post open-heart surgery patients. Basak, Unver, Moss, Watts, and Gaioso (2016) used the Simulation Design Scale to measure differences between low and high fidelity simulation on student outcomes. Sharpnack and Madigan (2012) also used the Education Practice Scale for Simulation to evaluate simulation strategies in their study of low fidelity simulation with nursing students. For the purpose of this project, the Simulation Design Scale will be used to evaluate the clinical simulation.

Student evaluation of simulation can be achieved in different ways. Nursing educators can choose from tools such as observations of students conducting clinical simulations, questionnaires, attitude scales, and anecdotal notes (Jefferies, 2012). These different tools can measure different variables. The study that was conducted for this project used the National League for Nursing Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence Survey to measure satisfaction and self-confidence. This survey is a 13-item survey using a Likert scale to measure student satisfaction and self-confidence (National League for Nursing, 2016a). The NLN survey of student satisfaction and self-confidence was also used in a study to measure concept mapping and simulation in nursing students (Zepure, Miller, & Haras, 2014). Curtis et al. (2016) used portions of the Nursing Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence. The 10-week curriculum plan for this project also uses the National League for Nursing Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence Survey. The description of the project is discussed in the next section.

#### **Project Description**

This curriculum plan will help nursing students apply skills in a simulated environment that may not be available to students in a real nursing environment. Throughout the 10 weeks, students will be introduced to the simulator, learn the necessary skills, practice the skills with a peer in a simulated environment, complete the checkoff for each skill, and demonstrate all skills with a full patient scenario at the end of the semester for a grade.

Resources needed for this project are nursing faculty members, simulation laboratory with high fidelity simulators, and laboratory equipment. A potential barrier for this project is the amount of time needed due to the amount of theory and laboratory curriculum. Also, an increase in faculty members are needed to teach students. A welldefined schedule will help keep the project on track. Nursing students will not only be completing the scenarios; they will also be peer evaluating their classmates during the 10week plan. Nursing faculty will teach the skills, observe and guide during student practice, and evaluate students at the end of the 10 weeks for a grade.

#### **Project Evaluation Plan**

To evaluate the project, students will complete the simulation design scale survey and a reflection paper. The simulation design scale is divided into five sections, objectives and information, support, problem solving, feedback/guided reflection, and fidelity (National League for Nursing, 2016a). It was validated by 10 content experts, and Cronbach's alpha was used to test the reliability, which was 0.92 for the features of the survey and 0.96 for the importance (National League for Nursing, 2016a). The survey feedback will determine if students believe the objectives were met, if they were supported during the learning process, if they were encouraged to problem solve while completing the simulation, if feedback was provided to them, and if the simulation was realistic. By students completing this survey, faculty can better understand if the project implementation met all intended objectives. This type of evaluation is best because the feedback is coming directly from the students who are involved in the 10-week plan. Student feedback will help guide faculty members and program directors in curriculum development.

Each student will also submit a reflection paper after the 10 weeks. Each student will write a minimum of 1000 words on their thoughts before and after completing the 10 weeks, what they learned that will benefit them in their clinical practice, if they felt all objectives were met for each skill, and if they would like to see anything done differently in the future in the course. This paper will allow students to express how they feel and give feedback to faculty members.

#### **Project Implications**

The purpose of this project study was to determine if there was a difference in student perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between nursing students with different amounts of clinical simulation time. Though the mixed method study was underpowered due to the small participation size of the sample, there was still a possibility of providing social change with the results. As previously stated, the number of nursing programs is increasing, and hospital availability is decreasing. Nursing programs are using more simulation to educate and prepare their students. Even with the small number of students who participated in this mixed methods study, the results showed no significant difference between the students' satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. The local stakeholders, including nursing faculty, deans of nursing, program managers, and other administrators, can use this information to adjust curricula and provide an enriched learning environment for their students. Providing nursing

students with an education that will better prepare them, not only helps the students, but also all nursing students' future patients.

#### Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

### Introduction

The purpose of this project study was to determine if there was a difference in nursing student perceptions for satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking between two groups of students with either 15 or 30 hours of clinical simulation. Implementation of the project was intended to allow more clinical simulation to be present in the nursing program, specifically in the AMS course. The project's strengths and limitations are reviewed in this section along with recommendations to alternative approaches. Reflections on the importance of the work in addition to the implications, applications, and directions for future research are also discussed.

## **Project Strengths and Limitations**

The project includes a 10-week curriculum plan to better implement clinical simulation in a nursing course. The strengths of this project include the objectives of each lesson with detailed assessments to be completed for all students and their skill competencies. The first 9 weeks are dedicated to preparing students to complete a full simulation scenario and care for a patient who requires multiple skills at the end of the 10 weeks. The project also focuses on skills that students might not get the opportunity to complete in the clinical setting. Simulation is a valuable teaching tool for high risk/low-volume events (Hyland et al., 2012). The first 9 weeks allow plenty of time for students to practice their skills in a simulated environment prior to being graded at the end. Another strength is the evaluation process not only for the students, but also for the simulation itself. Students will complete the Simulation Design Scale at the end of the 10

weeks. This information will provide faculty with data on students' perceptions about the simulation that will enable them to make necessary adjustments to the scenarios.

Limitations to the project are time and laboratory space. This project does require an abundant amount of laboratory time, requiring more nursing faculty to be present. It also requires time for nursing faculty to be familiar with simulators and how they operate. The Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing (2013) requires that faculty are trained and clinically qualified to teach clinical simulation. Training on the simulators can take days to complete, encompassing simulator setup, scenario building, setting the stage, and debriefing techniques. Laboratory space is also a limitation of this project. To implement this 10-week curriculum plan, the laboratory will need to be booked for the actual laboratory days with sufficient time prior for set-up. Many nursing programs lack laboratory space in general, so the increase in time presents a limitation.

#### **Recommendations for Alternative Approaches**

The problem that prompted this research and project study was the lack of clinical space availability to a local nursing program and the increasing use of clinical simulation to supplement that clinical time. The NCSBN determined that clinical simulation could replace 50% of clinical time (Hayden et al., 2014). With an increase in clinical simulation time in lieu of actual hospital time, nursing faculty wanted to ensure that students were satisfied with simulation, competent in their skills, and could critically think in clinical settings. There are limited alternative approaches to the lack of clinical space. Students need to be trained appropriately, whether in a hospital setting or a clinical simulation setting.

One alternative approach at the local level would be to admit fewer students per year into the nursing program. This would open more clinical spots for existing students. Another alternative approach would require the nursing board to have stricter guidelines regarding the regulation of nursing programs. This would require a reversal of the 2009 legislature that deregulated nursing programs. Since 2009, the State of Florida has seen an increase by 151% in nursing programs (OPPAGA, 2015). The problem of insufficient clinical space and not having sites to train students will not be addressed adequately by any online program or lecture. Students need the hands-on training that clinical simulation provides.

#### Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

As this project evolved, I have learned much through the process of writing a proposal, researching, reviewing the literature, analyzing the data, conducting interviews, engaging in content analysis, and finally creating a 10-week curriculum plan for the project. The knowledge I have gained has been invaluable. As a scholar, I learned in my doctoral courses about adult learning theories, researching, and statistical analysis; however, nothing compares to creating this entire project study from its inception to completion. I had a few obstacles in my process including restructuring my proposal and adding a qualitative portion to my study, but I would not have learned valuable lessons if those situations had not arisen. All those steps were part of a learning process.

As an educator, this process has helped me tremendously in my teaching. I have learned more about clinical simulation and have been able to implement it in my curriculum as a professor of respiratory therapy. This has afforded me the opportunity to provide my students with knowledge and learning experiences they may not have had otherwise. In developing this project, I was able to learn more about the assessments available for simulation that students can complete that help faculty get valuable feedback from their students. Currently, I develop syllabi for my courses, but developing a full 10-week plan was rewarding and will help me in the future.

## **Reflection on Importance of the Work**

The importance of this work was apparent in every step I completed. Nursing professors are tasked with educating up to 100 students in one course. They have challenges with clinical space, overloaded curriculum, and ensuring that all students are sufficiently competent in their skills to be great nurses. In speaking with the dean of nursing and program faculty, I learned more about not only the nursing profession, but also the nurse educator profession. This project study gave me the opportunity to develop a curriculum plan to help students in their future careers and nurse educators in their profession. I would never have had the opportunity to learn so much from these stakeholders and realize the roles they play without this project study.

## Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The purpose of this project has always been to provide social change. Nurses play a pivotal role in our healthcare system. Patients rely on nurses to be compassionate and treat them as needed. Doctors rely on nurses to execute their orders, and family members rely on them to treat their loved ones every day. The purpose of this study was to determine if there were differences in nursing students' perceptions of satisfaction, selfconfidence, and critical thinking who had different amounts of clinical simulation. Data analysis showed no difference in students' perceptions, and this finding prompted the creation of a 10-week curriculum plan to educate student nurses using more clinical simulation. The hope is that this study and project will help nursing faculty members in making decisions about how to adjust their curriculum to better educate nursing students.

More research is needed on clinical simulation. Though most nursing programs are completed over five semesters, this study focused on only two semesters of nursing courses. The topic of simulation can be researched on many levels, from task trainers to high fidelity simulators to standardized patients. This project study is only the beginning. Clinical simulation has evolved tremendously over the years, and it will continue to do so, and so will the research.

## Conclusion

The purpose of this project was to investigate two different groups of nursing students who had different amounts of clinical simulation time to determine if there were differences in their perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking. Extensive research on the problem of lack of clinical space and increased use of clinical simulation prompted this study. Data analysis showed no difference in student perceptions of clinical simulation. The majority of students enjoyed clinical simulation and found it to be a useful educational tool. This study supported the use of additional clinical simulation in nursing programs to better prepare student nurses for their future careers.

#### References

Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing. (2013). Accreditation manual. Retrieved from http://www.acenursing.org/accreditation-manual/

Aebersold, M., Tschannen, D. (2013). Simulation in nursing practice: The impact on patient care. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 18(2).
doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol18No02Man06

Alfes, C. (2011). Evaluating the use of simulation with beginning nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education, 50*(2), 89-93. doi:10.3928/01484834-20101230-03

Alinier, G., Hunt, B., Gordon, R. and Harwood, C. (2006), Effectiveness of intermediate-fidelity simulation training technology in undergraduate nursing education. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 54: 359–369. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03810.x

American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2008). *The essentials of baccalaureate education for professional nursing practice*. Retrieved from http://www.aacn.nche.edu/education-resources/BaccEssentials08.pdf

- American Nurses Association. (2015). What is nursing? Retrieved from http://www.nursingworld.org/especiallyforyou/what-is-nursing
- Aziz-Fini, I., Hajibagheri, A., & Adib-Hajbaghery, M. (2015) Critical thinking skills in nursing students: A comparison between freshman and senior students. *Nurse Midwifery Studies*, 4(1), 1-5. doi:10.17795/nmsjournal25721
- Azzopardi, T., Johnson, A., Phillips, K., Dickson, C., Hengstberger-Sims, C., Goldsmith,M., & Allan, T. (2014). Simulation as a learning strategy: supporting

undergraduate nursing students with disabilities. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(3/4), 402-409 8p. doi:10.1111/jocn.12049

- Babbie. E. (1990). *Survey research methods* (2nd ed.). Bellmont, CA: Wadsworth, Cengage Learning.
- Basak, T., Unver, V., Moss, J., Watts, P., Gaioso, V. (2016). Beginning and advanced students' perceptions of the use of low- and high-fidelity mannequins in nursing simulation. *Nurse Education Today*, *36*, 37-43. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.07.020
- Bevan, A. L., Joy, R., Keeley, S., & Brown, P. (2015). Learning to nurse: Combining simulation with key theory. *British Journal of Nursing*, *24*(15), 781-785 5p. doi:10.12968/bjon.2015.24.15.781
- Bishop-Clark, C., & Dietz-Uhler, B. (2012). Engaging in the scholarship of teaching and learning: A guide to the process, and how to develop a project from start to finish.Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Cant R.P. & Cooper S.J. (2010) Simulation-based learning in nurse education: systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing 66*(1), 3–15. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05240.x
- Cantrell, M. L., Meyer, S. L., & Mosack, V. (2017). Effects of simulation on nursing student stress: An integrative review. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 56(3), 139-144. doi:10.3928/01484834-20170222-04
- Casida, J., Shpakoff, L. (2012) Baccalaureate student perception of integrating simulation as a teaching strategy in an acute and critical care nursing course. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 8(8), 347-352. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2011.01.008

- Clapper, C. (2010). Beyond Knowles: What those conducting simulation need to know about adult learning theory. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 6, 7 – 14. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2009.07.003
- Coffman, S., Doolen, J., & Llasus, L. M. (2015). Program development and evaluation of the concierge model of simulation. *Online Journal of Nursing Informatics, 19*(2),
  8. Retrieved from http://www.himss.org/ojni
- Cohen, D. & Crabtree, B. (2006) Qualitative research guidelines project. Retrieved from http://www.qualres.org/HomeIter-3827.html
- Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education. (2013). Standards for accreditation of baccalaureate and graduate nursing programs. Retrieved from www. aacn.nche.edu/ccne-accreditation/Standards-Amended-2013.pdf
- Cook, S. (2015) Full integration of simulation in an associate degree nursing program. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing, 10*(1), 19 – 24. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2014.07.004
- Cooksey, R. & McDonald, G. (2011). *Surviving and thriving in postgraduate research*, Prahran, VIC: Tilde University Press
- Cooper, S., Cant, R., Porter, J., Bogossian, F., McKenna, L., Brady, S., & Fox-Young, S.
  (2012) Simulation based learning in midwifery education: A systematic review. *Women and Birth, 25*(2), 64-78. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2011.03.004
- Creswell, J. (2009) *Research design. Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approach.* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage Publications.
- Curtin, L. B., Fin, L. A., Czosnowski, Q. A., Whitman, C. B., & Cawley, M. J. (2011). Computer-based simulation training to improve learning outcomes in mannequin-

based simulation exercises. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 75(6), 1-6. doi:10.5688/ajpe756113

- Curtis, E., Ryan, C., Roy, S., Simes, T., Lapkin, S., O'Neill, B., & Faithfull-Byrne, A.
  (2016). Incorporating peer-to-peer facilitation with a mid-level fidelity student led simulation experience for undergraduate nurses. *Nurse Education in Practice, 20*, 80-84. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.07.003
- Daglius Dias, R., & Scalabrini Neto, A. (2016). Stress levels during emergency care: A comparison between reality and simulated scenarios. *Journal of Critical Care, 33*, 8-13. doi:10.1016/j.jcrc.2016.02.010
- Donaghy, J. (2016). Skills development at a paramedic accident simulation centre. *Emergency Nurse*, 23(9), 22-24. doi:10.7748/en.23.9.22.s24
- Dowie I, P. (2011). Supporting the lecturer to deliver high-fidelity simulation. *Nursing Standard*, *25*(49), 35-40. doi:10.7748/ns2011.08.25.49.35.c8651
- Dutile, C., Wright, N., & Beauchesne, M. (2011). Virtual clinical education: Going the full distance in nursing education. *Newborn & Infant Nursing Reviews*, 11(1), 43-48. doi:10.1053/j.nainr.2010.12.008
- Elliott, K. M. and Healy, M. A. (2001). Key factors influencing student satisfaction related to recruitment and retention. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 10(4), 1-11. doi:10.1300/J050v10n04\_01
- Fabro, K., Schaffer, M., & Scharton, J. (2014). The development, implementation, and evaluation of an end-of-life simulation experience for baccalaureate nursing students. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(1), 19-25. doi:10.5480/11-593.1

- Facione, P. (1990). Critical thinking: A statement of expert consensus for purposes of educational assessment and instruction, executive summary, the delphi report.
  Millbrae, CA: American Philosophical Association, California Academic Press.
  Retrieved from https://assessment.trinity.duke.edu/documents/Delphi\_Report.pdf
- Fero, L., O'Donnell, J., Zullo, T., Dabbs, A., Kitutu, J., Samosky, J., & Hoffman, L. (2010). Critical thinking skills in nursing students: comparison of simulation-based performance with metrics. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(10), 2182-2193 12p. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05385.x
- Florida Board of Nursing (2010) Chapter 64B9-2.006 Nursing Programs Curriculum Guidelines. Retrieved from www.floridasnursing.gov/resources
- Florida Department of Education. (2014). *Nursing education programs*. Retrieved from http://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7748/urlt/0081001-sb1036billsummary052014.pdf
- Florida Legislator, Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability.
  (2015). *Florida's nursing education programs continued to expand in 2014*.
  (Report No. 15-04). Retrieved from http://floridasnursing.gov/forms/oppaga-report-2015.pdf

Florida Nurse Practice Act, 464 Fla. Stat. Ann. §§ XXXII (2016).

Frick, K. D., Swoboda, S. M., Mansukhani, K., & Jeffries, P. R. (2014). An economic model for clinical simulation in prelicensure nursing programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 5(3), 9-13. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(15)30053-3 Fowler, F.J, (2009) *Survey Research Methods*. (4th ed.) Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.

Gaumard Scientific. (2016). Retrieved from http://www.gaumard.com/

Goodstone, L., Goodstone, M. S., Cino, K., Glaser, C. A., Kupferman, K., & Dember-Neal, T. (2013). Effect of simulation on the development of critical thinking in associate degree nursing students. *Nursing Education Perspectives, 34*(3), 159-62. Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com/docview/1370894882?accountid=14872

- G\*Power Version 3.1.9.2. (2014) Retrieved from http://www.softpedia.com/get/Science-CAD/G-Power.shtml
- Guhde, J. (2011). Nursing students' perceptions of the effect on critical thinking, assessment, and learner satisfaction in simple versus complex high-fidelity simulation scenarios. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *50*(2), 73-78. doi:10.3928/01484834-20101130-03
- Hampson, S. J., & Cantrell, S. (2014). Does the use of standardized patients in maternalnewborn simulation increase student confidence prior to entering the clinical setting? *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 43(Supp 1), S48. doi:10.1111/1552-6909.12413

Hanlon, P. (2014). Simulation creating better therapists and patient care. *RT: Journal for Respiratory Care Practitioners*, 27(1), 8-11. Retrieved from http://www.rtmagazine.com/2014/01/simulation-creating-better-therapists-and-patient-care/

- Hayden, J., Smiley, R., Alexander, M., Kardong-Edgren, S., & Jeffries, P. (2014). The NCSBN national simulation study: A longitudinal, randomized, controlled study replacing clinical hours with simulation in prelicensure nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, *5*(2), S3-S40. doi:10.1016/s2155-8256(15)30062-4
- Howell, T., & James, T. (2012). Innovative instructional design to alleviate the shortage of clinical practice sites for education through the use of a simulated OB experience. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing, 41*, S111. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6909.2012.01361\_87.x
- Hyland, D., Weeks, B., Ficorelli, C., & Vanderbeek-Warren, M. (2012) Bringing simulation to life. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 7(3), 108-112. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2012.01.002
- Insight Assessment. (2013). California Critical Thinking Skills Test (CCTST). Retrieved from http://www.insightassessment.com/Products/Products-Summary/Critical-Thinking-Skills-Tests/California-Critical-Thinking-Skills-Test-CCTST

Institute for Simulation Educators. (2015). Retrieved from

https://www.nursing.umaryland.edu/academics/pe/events/simulation-institute/

- International Nursing Association for Clinical Simulation and Learning. (2015). Standards of Best Practice: Simulation <sup>SM.</sup> Retrieved from http://www.inacsl.org/i4a/pages/index.cfm?pageid=3407.
- Jeffries, P. (2005). A framework for designing, implementing, and evaluating simulations used as teaching strategies in nursing. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *26*(2), 96–

103. Retrieved from

http://livingbooks.nln.org/hits/chapter\_03/Jeffries\_article\_NEP.pdf

- Jeffries, P. (2012) Simulation in Nursing Education from Conceptualization to Evaluation. (2nd ed.). New York, NY: National League for Nursing.
- Kaddoura, M. A. (2011). Critical thinking skills of nursing students in lecture-based teaching and case-based learning. *International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching & Learning*, 5(2), 1-18. doi:10.20429/ijsotl.2011.050220
- Kane, J., Pye, S., Jones, A. (2011) Effectiveness of a simulation-based educational program in a pediatric cardiac intensive care unit. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 26(4), 287-294. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2010.05.004
- Kardong-Edgren, S., Hanberg, A., Dodge Ackermann, A., Alinier, G., Anderson, M.,
  Fowler Durham, C., & Van Gele, P. (2011). *Clinical simulation in nursing, (4S) Supplement*, S1-S20. Retrieved from

http://www.nursingsimulation.org/issue/S1876-1399%2811%29X0005-1

- Knowles, M. S. (1970). The modern practice of adult education (Vol. 41). New York, NY: New York Association Press. Retrieved from http://www.hospitalist.frickcumc.columbia.edu/downloads/cc4\_articles/Education %20Theory/Andragogy.pdf
- Kolb, D. A. (1981). Learning styles and disciplinary differences. In A. W. Chickering & Associates, *Modern American college: Responding to the new realities of diverse students and a changing society* (pp. 232-255). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass

- Kopka, J. A., Aschenbrenner, A. P., & Reynolds, M. B. (2016). Helping students process a simulated death experience: Integration of an NLN ACE.S evolving case study and the ELNEC curriculum. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *37*(3), 180-182. doi:10.5480/14-132
- Laerd Statistics (2015). *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com/
- Laerdal Medical. (2016). Retrieved from http://www.laerdal.com/us/
- Lancaster, R. J., Anderson, P., Jambunathan, J., Elertson, K. M., & Schmitt, C. A. (2015).
   Simulation STEPS ahead: Preparing to engage in systematic evaluations of simulation activities. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *36*(6), 406-407. doi:10.5480/15-1661
- Lapkin, S., Levett-Jones, T., Bellchambers, H., & Fernandez, R. (2010). Effectiveness of patient simulation manikins in teaching clinical reasoning skills to undergraduate nursing students: A systematic review. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 6(6), e207e222. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2010.05.005.
- Larue, C., Pepin, J., & Allard, E. (2015) Simulation in preparation or substitution for clinical placement: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 5 (9), 132-140. doi:10.5430/jnep.v5n9p132
- Lateef, F. (2010). Simulation-based learning: Just like the real thing. *Journal of Emergencies, Trauma and Shock, 3*(4), 348–352. doi:10.4103/0974-2700.70743

- Lewis, D. Y., & Ciak, A. D. (2011). The impact of a simulation laboratory experience for nursing students. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 32(4), 256-258. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-32.4.256
- Lisko, S. A., & O'Dell, V. (2010). Integration of theory and practice: Experiential learning theory and nursing education. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 31(2), 106-108. doi:10.1043/1536-5026-31.2.106
- Makary, M. A., & Daniel, M. (2016). Medical error-the third leading cause of death in the US. *British Medical Journal (Online)*, 353. doi:10.1136/bmj.i2139
- Mariani, B., Cantrell, M. A., & Meakim, C. (2014). Nurse educators' perceptions about structured debriefing in clinical simulation. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(5), 330-331. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/openview/ef32aed0d4c8cd913867e03eb838e151/1?pq-origsite=gscholar
- Mariani, B., Cantrell, M. A., Meakim, C., & Jenkinson, A. (2015). Improving students' safety practice behaviors through a simulation-based learning experience. *Journal* of Nursing Education, 54(3), S35-38. doi:10.3928/01484834-20150218-05
- Masters, K. (2014). Journey toward integration of simulation in a baccalaureate nursing curriculum. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 53(2), 102-4. doi:10.3928/01484834-20131209-03
- Medley, C. & Horne, C. (2005). Using simulation technology for undergraduate nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education, 44*, 31-34. Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com/openview/dd79675ca85a070d1cd28cb74264b27e/1?pq -origsite=gscholar

- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Messmer, P., Jones, S., and Taylor, B. (2004) Enhancing knowledge and self-confidence of novice nurses. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *25* (3), 131-136. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/8410668\_Enhancing\_knowledge\_and\_s elf-confidence\_of\_novice\_nurses\_The\_SHADOW-A-NURSE\_ICU\_Program

- Montenery, S. M., Walker, M., Sorensen, E., Thompson, R., Kirklin, D., White, R., & Ross, C. (2013). Millennial generation student nurses' perceptions of the impact of multiple technologies on learning. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *34*(6), 405-409. doi:10.5480/10-451
- Mould, J., White, H., & Gallagher, R. (2011). Evaluation of a critical care simulation series for undergraduate nursing students. *Contemporary Nurse: A Journal for the Australian Nursing Profession*, 38(1/2), 180-190. doi:10.5172/conu.2011.38.1-2.180
- Mowry, M. J., & Gabel, M. A. (2015). Revision of immediate post-open heart surgery education for critical care RNs. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 46(11), 508-514. doi:10.3928/00220124-20151020-03
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2012). National model act. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/14\_Model\_Act\_0914.pdf

- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2015). NCLEX & other exams. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/nclex.htm
- National League for Nursing. (2015). *Annual survey of schools of nursing, academic year* 2013- 2014. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/newsroom/nursing-educationstatistics/annual-survey-of-schools-of-nursing-academic-year-2013-2014
- National League for Nursing. (2016a) Descriptions of available instruments. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/professional-development-programs/research/tools-andinstruments/descriptions-of-available-instruments
- National League for Nursing (2016b). NLN center for innovation in simulation and technology. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/centers-for-nursing-education/nlncenter-for-innovation-in-simulation-and-technology
- National League for Nursing Accrediting Commission. (2004). Accreditation manual and interpretative guidelines by program type. New York. Retrieved from http://www.nlnac.org/Manual%20&%20IG/2004Edition/NLNACManual2004.pdf
- Nehring, W. M. (2010). History of simulation in nursing. In W. M. Nehring & F. R.
  Lashley (Eds.). *High-fidelity patient simulation in nursing education* (pp. 3–26).
  Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- Nightingale, F. (1992) *Notes on nursing: What it is, and what it is not.* (Commemorative Edition). Philadelphia, PA: J.B. Lippincott.
- Nurse Practice Act (2015). The 2015 Florida Statues. Retrieved from http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App\_mode=Display\_Statute&URL= 0400-0499/0464/0464.html

- Park, M. Y., McMillan, M. A., Conway, J. F., Cleary, S. R., Murphy, L., & Griffiths, S. K. (2013). Practice-based simulation model: A curriculum innovation to enhance the critical thinking skills of nursing students. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing (Online), 30*(3), 41-51. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1353535068?accounti d=14872
- Partin, J. L., Payne, T. A., & Slemmons, M. F. (2011). Students' perceptions of their learning experiences using high-fidelity simulation to teach concepts relative to obstetrics. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 32(3), 186-188. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-32.3.186
- Perry, P. (2011). Concept analysis: Confidence/self-confidence. *Nursing Forum*, *46*(4), 218-230. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6198.2011.00230.x
- Richardson, H., Goldsamt, L. A., Simmons, J., Gilmartin, M., & Jeffries, P. R. (2014). Increasing faculty capacity: Findings from an evaluation of simulation clinical teaching. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *35*(5), 308-314 7p. doi:10.5480/14-1384
- Samawi, Z., Miller, T., & Haras, M. S. (2014). Using high-fidelity simulation and concept mapping to cultivate self-confidence in nursing students. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(6), 408-409. doi:10.5480/12-1042.1
- Scherer, Y. K., Bruce, S. A., & Runkawatt, V. (2007). A comparison of clinical simulation and case study presentation on nurse practitioner students' knowledge

and confidence in managing a cardiac event. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 4(1), Article 22. doi:10.2202/1548-923X.1502

- Schlairet, Maura C, EdD,R.N., C.N.L. (2011). Simulation in an undergraduate nursing curriculum: Implementation and impact evaluation. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 50(10), 561-568. doi:10.3928/01484834-20110630-04
- Sharpnack, P. A., & Madigan, E. A. (2012). Using low-fidelity simulation with sophomore nursing students in a baccalaureate nursing program. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 33(4), 264-268. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-33.4.264
- Shin, H., Ma, H., Park, J., Ji, E., & Kim, D. (2015). The effect of simulation courseware on critical thinking in undergraduate nursing students: Multi-site pre-post study, *Nurse Education Today*, 35(4), 537-542. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2014.12.004.
- Shinnick, M.A, Woo, M., Horwich, T.B., & Steadman, R. (2011). Debriefing: The most important component in simulation? *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 7(3), e105e111. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2010.11.005
- Society for Simulation in Healthcare. (2015). *About simulation*. Retrieved from http://www.ssih.org/About-Simulation
- Society for Simulation in Healthcare. (2016). Retrieved from http://www.ssih.org/Membership-Benefits
- Strauss, A. & Corbin, J. (1990). Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

- Tavares, W., LeBlanc, V. R., Mausz, J., Sun, V., & Eva, K. W. (2014). Simulation-based assessment of paramedics and performance in real clinical contexts. *Prehospital Emergency Care: Official Journal of the National Association of EMS Physicians and the National Association of State EMS Directors*, 18(1), 116-122. doi:10.3109/10903127.2013.818178
- Tosterud, R., Hedelin, B., Hall-Lord, M. L. (2013) Nursing students' perceptions of highand low-fidelity simulation used as learning methods. *Nurse Education in Practice, 13*(4), 262-270. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2013.02.002
- Wane, D., & Lotz, K. (2013). The simulated clinical environment as a platform for refining critical thinking in nursing students: A pilot program. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 34(3), 163-166 4p. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-34.3.163
- Ward, T. D. (2016). Think like a nurse: A critical thinking initiative. *ABNF Journal*, *27*(3), 64-66.
- Wheeler, C. A., & McNelis, A. M. (2014). Nursing student perceptions of a communitybased home visit experienced by a role-play simulation. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(4), 259-61. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1547708662?accountid=14872
- Yin, R. K. (2010). Qualitative research from start to finish. New York, NY: Guildford.
- Yuan, H., Kunaviktikul, W., Klunklin, A., & Williams, B. (2008). Improvement of nursing students' critical thinking skills through problem-based learning in the People's Republic of China: A quasi-experimental study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 10(1), 70-76. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2007.00373.

Appendix A: The Project

Simulation Curriculum Plan



**Designer**: Jaime Magnetico, MA, RRT-NPS

Implementation: In conjunction with Advanced Concepts of Medical Surgical Nursing

Course

Student Assessment: Grading rubric/check off sheets

Simulation Assessment: Simulation Design Scale, National League for Nursing Student

Satisfaction and Self-Confidence Survey, and reflection paper

**Description**: This curriculum plan will help nursing students apply skills in a simulated environment that may not be available for students to complete in a real nursing environment. Throughout the 10 weeks, students will first get an introduction to the simulator, learn the necessary skills, practice the skills with a peer in a simulated environment, complete the check off for each skill and then demonstrate all skills at the end of the semester with a full patient scenario for a grade.

**Required Textbook**: Perry, A., & Potter, P. (2014). *Clinical Nursing Skills & Techniques* (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). St. Louis, Missouri: Elsevier.

**Objectives**: At the completion of the 10 weeks, students will be able to

- 1. Apply steps in caring for patients with advanced medical and surgical conditions
- 2. Demonstrate clinical decision-making skills
- 3. Communicate with patients and other members of the healthcare team
- 4. Demonstrate clinical competence of tracheostomy care in simulation lab
- 5. Demonstrate clinical competence of chest tube care in simulation lab
- 6. Demonstrate clinical competence of 12 lead electrocardiogram in simulation lab
- 7. Demonstrate clinical competence of blood administration in simulation lab
- 8. Adhere to professional standards defined by the Nurse Practice Act

**Grading Scale/Rubric**: Simulation grade will make up 30% of the overall course grade. Each competency is worth five points for a total of 20 points. Final simulation is worth ten points. That grading rubric is provided in the final scenario section.

Point Value	Scale
5	Satisfactory performance of skill with no errors
4	Satisfactory performance of skill with one error
3	Unsatisfactory performance of skill with two errors
2	Unsatisfactory performance of skill with three errors
1	Unsatisfactory performance of skill with more than three
	errors
0	Did not perform competency

## **Outline**:

Week	Activity	Assessment
1	Introduction to simulator	Student check off sheet
2	Learn trach care & practice with peer	Peer check off
3	Trach care competency	Trach care competency check off
4	Learn chest tube & practice with peer	Peer check off
5	Chest tube competency	Chest tube competency Check off
6	Learn EKG & practice with peer	Peer check off
7	EKG competency	EKG competency check off
8	Learn blood administration & practice with peer	Peer check off
9	Blood administration competency	Blood administration competency check off
10	Final Simulation	<ol> <li>Simulation Design Scale</li> <li>National League for Nursing Student Satisfaction and Self- Confidence Survey</li> <li>Grading Scale</li> </ol>

## **Introduction to Simulator Week 1**

**Description**: Each student will complete the skills below to get an introduction to the simulator.

Equipment needed: Patient simulator, blood pressure cuff, stethoscope

**Objectives:** At the completion of week 1 students will be able to

- 1. Evaluate the simulator as a real patient
- 2. Recognize changes to simulator vitals
- 3. Understand how the simulator operates
- 4. Apply skills necessary to care for the simulator

Skills	Student Completed
Look at pupils, ears, mouth, nose, neck	
Auscultate all breath sounds, heart sounds, bowl	
sounds	
Palpate all pulses (carotid, brachial, radial, femoral,	
and pedal)	
Take blood pressure	
Ask simulator questions to get responses	
Review special features of simulator (cyanosis,	
seizures, monitor, etc.)	
Change vitals on simulator and have students	
recognize breath sound changes, heart rate changes,	
presence of bowl sounds.	

# **Competencies**:

All competency material is from, Perry, A., & Potter, P. (2014). *Clinical Nursing Skills* & *Techniques* (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). St. Louis, Missouri: Elsevier. The students' peer and faculty evaluator will use the checkoff sheet to evaluate. The grading scale will be used for the final faculty checkoff to determine appropriate points.

# Tracheostomy Care Week 2 and 3

**Description**: Each student will take care of a patient with a tracheostomy tube. The

student will practice tracheostomy care with a peer, and then will be checked off with a

faculty member.

Equipment needed: Personal Protective Equipment and tracheostomy care kit

**Objective:** At the completion of week 2 and 3, students will be able to

1. Demonstrate clinical competence of tracheostomy care in simulation lab

Skill	Peer	Competency
	Checkoff	Checkoff
Identify patient with two patient identifiers		
Perform hand hygiene and don PPE		
Apply pulse oximeter		
Suction tracheostomy and remove soiled		
dressing		
Remove gloves, hand hygiene, prepare		
equipment		
Hyperoxygenate the patient		
Apply sterile gloves and keep dominate hand		
sterile throughout		
Remove inner cannula, clean or replace with		
disposable cannula, replace		
Using normal saline saturated cotton tipped		
swabs and 4x4 gauze clean stoma site in		
circular motion outward from stoma using		
dominant hand to hold sterile supplies		
Pat area dry with sterile gauze		
Secure tracheostomy and remove old trach ties		
Replace trach ties and replace trach dressing		
around tracheostomy		
Verify trach ties are secure and not too tight		
(should be able to fit two fingers under the tie)		
Ensure patient is comfortable and assess		
respiratory status		
Be sure that oxygen or humidification delivery		
sources are correct		
Remove PPE and perform hand hygiene		

# Chest Tube Week 4 and 5

**Description**: Each student will take care of a patient that needs a chest tube. The student

will practice chest tube insertion with a peer, and then will be checked off by faculty.

Equipment needed: Personal protective equipment, chest tube insertion kit, and drainage

system

**Objective:** At the completion of week 4 and 5, students will be able to

1. Demonstrate clinical competence of chest tubes in simulation lab

Skill	Peer Checkoff	Competency
		Checkoff
Identify patient using two identifiers		
Check informed consent policy		
Review order for chest tube placement		
Set up water seal system or waterless		
system (see manufacturer guidelines)		
Secure all tubing connections with tape		
or zip ties		
Turn off suction source and unclamp		
drainage tubing before connecting to		
patient		
Administer premedication		
Explain procedure to patient		
Perform hand hygiene and apply PPE		
Help heath care provider with tube		
insertion and set up drainage system		
Ensure all connections are secure and		
system is functioning		
Use appropriate patient position for		
pneumothorax or hemothorax		
Check patency of air vents in system		
Position tubing appropriately and secure		
next to patient on mattress		
Dispose of sharps		
Dispose PPE, wash hands, and reapply		
clean gloves		
Reassess patient and insertion site		
Remove PPE and perform hand hygiene		

## EKG Week 6 and 7

Description: Each student will take care of a patient that needs an EKG. The student will

practice EKG's with a peer, and then will be checked off with a faculty member.

Equipment needed: Personal protective equipment, 12 lead EKG machine, and

electrodes

**Objective:** At the completion of week 6 and 7, students will be able to

1. Demonstrate clinical competence of 12 lead electrocardiogram in simulation lab

Skill	Peer Check off	Competency Check off
Identify patient using two identifiers		
Perform hand hygiene and apply PPE		
Remove or reposition patients clothing		
to expose patient's chest and arms		
Place patient in supine position		
Instruct patient to lie still, no talking, and		
uncross legs		
Clean and prepare skin (wipe with		
alcohol, shave hair if needed)		
Apply self-sticking electrodes in		
appropriate areas		
Turn on ECG machine and enter patient		
demographics and obtain a 12 lead ECG		
tracing		
Disconnect leads and wipe patients skin		
clean		
Document and provide reading to health		
care provider		

## **Blood Administration Week 8 and 9**

**Description**: Each student will take care of a patient that needs a blood transfusion. The student will practice blood transfusion with a peer, and then will be checked off with a faculty member.

**Equipment needed:** Personal protective equipment, simulated blood product, 0.9% normal saline, Y tubing

**Objective:** At the completion of week 8 and 9, students will be able to 1. Demonstrate clinical competence of blood administration in simulation lab

Skill	Peer Check off	Competency Check off
Preadministration Skills:		
Obtain blood component from blood bank		
following protocols.		
Check blood for any signs of contamination		
and presence of leaks		
Verbally compare and correctly verify patient,		
blood product, and type with another qualified		
person before initiating transfusion		
Review purpose of transfusion and ask patient		
to report any changes they may feel during the		
transfusion		
Empty urine drainage container or have		
patient void		
Administration skills:		
Perform hand hygiene and apply PPE		
Open Y tubing and set all clamps to off		
Spike 0.9% normal saline IV bag with one of		
the Y tubing spikes, hang bag and prime		
tubing. Close all clamps when primed and		
maintain sterile caps.		
Prepare blood for administration by gently		
turning bag upside down. Remove protective		
cover port from bag and spike with Y tubing		
connector, then prime tubing with blood.		
Ensure all residual air is out		
Maintain asepsis, attach primed tubing to		
patients VAD. Open tubing clamp and		
regulate blood infusion to 2 mL/min.		
Remain with patient for 15 minutes during		
transfusion and monitor vitals every five		
minutes		
If not reaction then regulate transfusion rate to		
ordered		
After transfusion is complete, clear IV with		
normal saline and discard blood bag		
according to policy.		
Appropriately discard all supplies, remove		
gloves, and perform hand hygiene.		

#### **Final Simulation Week 10**

**Description**: Each students will be given a detailed patient scenario of a patient that needs a 12 lead electrocardiogram done, tracheostomy care, chest tube insertion, and a blood transfusion.

Objectives: At the completion of the final simulation, students will be able to

1. Apply steps in caring for patients with advanced medical and surgical conditions

2. Demonstrate clinical decision-making skills

3. Communicate with patients and other members of the healthcare team

4. Demonstrate clinical competence of tracheostomy care in simulation lab

5. Demonstrate clinical competence of chest tube care in simulation lab

6. Demonstrate clinical competence of 12 lead electrocardiogram in simulation lab

7. Demonstrate clinical competence of blood administration in simulation lab

8. Adhere to professional standards defined by the Nurse Practice Act

## **Final Scenario**

## **Equipment Needed:**

Personal protective equipment

Simulator with a 6.0 Shiley tracheostomy tube in place and is connected to a mechanical ventilator

Chest tube tray with drainage system

12 lead EKG machine with electrotrodes

Simulated blood products, 0.9% normal saline bad, Y tubing

Additional members of healthcare team (Physician and nurse)
Trach care kit

**Case information:** 

Patient name: Robert Smith

Age: 65 year old

Gender: Male

Past Medical History: Laryngectomy five years ago, due to cancer.

Social History: Lives with wife of 30 years, retired factory worker

**Current situation:** Patient was in a motor vehicle accident. Suffered multiple fractures including broken ribs, which caused a pneumothorax. Patient is currently mechanically ventilated via the tracheostomy tube. He needs a chest tube in left lung to drain excess air from the pleural space, a 12 lead electrocardiogram, and needs a blood transfusion to due to low platelets and red blood cells.

## Scenario:

Student is given case information and needs to demonstrate all skills necessary. The student must prioritize what needs to be completed first and complete all skills without error.

Skills	Completed with no error 2 points	Completed with minor error 1 point	Completed with multiple errors 0 points
Prioritize care of			
patient			
Chest tube insertion			
Blood transfusion			
Trach care			
12 lead EKG			
Total points:			

#### **Grading Rubric:**

**Evaluation**: All student evaluation will take place with the checkoff sheets listed under each week and the grading scale/rubric. Student evaluation will be conducted by student's peers and nursing faculty. At the conclusion of the 10 weeks all students will be given two surveys. The National League for Nursing Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence Survey to measure satisfaction and self-confidence and the Simulation Design Scale to evaluate design features of the simulation. Both surveys are listed below and are from the National League for Nursing (2016a). Each student will also write a reflection paper on the 10 weeks, the directions for the paper are also listed below.

#### Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning

Instructions: This questionnaire is a series of statements about your personal attitudes about the instruction you receive during your simulation activity. Each item represents a statement about your attitude toward your satisfaction with learning and self-confidence in obtaining the instruction you need. There are no right or wrong answers. You will probably agree with some of the statements and disagree with others. Please indicate your own personal feelings about each statement below by marking the numbers that best describe your attitude or beliefs. Please be truthful and describe your attitude as it really is, not what you would like for it to be. This is anonymous with the results being compiled as a group, not individually. Mark:

1 = STRONGLY DISAGREE with the statement

2 = DISAGREE with the statement

3 = UNDECIDED - you neither agree or disagree with the statement
4 = AGREE with the statement
5 = STRONGLY AGREE with the statement

Satisfaction with Current Learning	SD	D	UN	Α	SA
1. The teaching methods used in this simulation were helpful and effective.	1	2	3	4	5
2. The simulation provided me with a variety of learning materials and activities to promote my learning the medical surgical curriculum.	1	2	3	4	5
3. I enjoyed how my instructor taught the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5
4. The teaching materials used in this simulation were motivating and helped me to learn.	1	2	3	4	5
5. The way my instructor(s) taught the simulation was suitable to the way I learn.	1	2	3	4	5
Self-confidence in Learning	SD	D	UN	A	SA
6. I am confident that I am mastering the content of the simulation activity that my instructors presented to me	1	2	3	4	5
<ul><li>7. I am confident that this simulation covered critical content necessary for the mastery of medical surgical curriculum.</li></ul>	1	2	3	4	5
8. I am confident that I am developing the skills and obtaining the required knowledge from this simulation to perform necessary tasks in a clinical	1	2	3	4	5
9. My instructors used helpful resources to teach the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5
10. It is my responsibility as the student to learn what I need to know from this simulation activity.	1	2	3	4	5
11.I know how to get help when I do not understand the concepts covered in the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5
12. I know how to use simulation activities to learn critical aspects of these skills.	1	2	3	4	5
13. It is the instructor's responsibility to tell me what I need to learn of the simulation activity content during class time.	1	2	3	4	5

## **Simulation Design Scale (Student Version)**

In order to measure if the best simulation design elements were implemented in your simulation, please complete the survey below as you perceive it. There are no right or wrong answers, only your perceived amount of agreement or disagreement. Please use the following code to answer the questions.

Use the following rating system when assessing the Rate each item based upon how important that item is to you. simulation design elements: 1 - Not Important 1 - Strongly Disagree with the statement 2 - Somewhat 2 - Disagree with the statement Important 3 - Undecided - you neither agree or 3 - Neutral disagree with the statement 4 - Important 4 - Agree with the statement 5 - Very Important 5 - Strongly Agree with the statement NA - Not Applicable; the statement does not pertain to the simulation activity

performed

			1	1	1	-	-	-	1		
Item	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Objectives and Information											
1. There was enough information provided at the beginning of the simulation to provide direction and	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
2. I clearly understood the purpose and objectives of the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
3. The simulation provided enough information in a clear matter for me to problem-solve the situation.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
<ol> <li>There was enough information provided to me during the simulation.</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5

5. The cues were appropriate and geared to promote my understanding.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Support											
<ol> <li>Support was offered in a timely manner.</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
7. My need for help was recognized.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
8. I felt supported by the teacher's assistance during the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
9. I was supported in the learning process.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Item	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Item Problem Solving	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Item Problem Solving 10. Independent problem- solving was facilitated.	<b>1</b>	<b>2</b>	3	<b>4</b> 4	<b>5</b> 5	NA	<b>1</b>	<b>2</b> 2	3	<b>4</b> 4	<b>5</b> 5
Item Problem Solving 10. Independent problem- solving was facilitated. 11. I was encouraged to explore all possibilities of the simulation.	<b>1</b> 1 1 1	<b>2</b> 2 2	<b>3</b> 3 3	<b>4</b> 4	<b>5</b> 5 5	NA NA NA	<b>1</b> 1	<b>2</b> 2 2	<b>3</b> 3 3	<b>4</b> 4 4	<b>5</b> 5 5
Item         Problem Solving         10. Independent problem- solving was facilitated.         11. I was encouraged to explore all possibilities of the simulation.         12. The simulation was designed for my specific level of knowledge and skills.	<b>1</b> 1 1 1 1	<b>2</b> 2 2 2	<b>3</b> 3 3	<b>4</b> 4 4 4	<b>5</b> 5 5	NA NA NA	1 1 1	2 2 2 2	<b>3</b> 3 3	<b>4</b> 4 4 4	<b>5</b> 5 5 5

14The simulation provided me an opportunity to goal set for my patient.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Feedback/Guided Reflection											
15.Feedback provided was constructive.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
16. Feedback was provided in a timely manner.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
17. The simulation allowed me to analyze my own behavior and actions.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
18. There was an opportunity after the simulation to obtain guidance/feedback from the teacher in order to build knowledge to another level.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
Fidelity (Realism)											
19. The scenario resembled a real- life situation.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5
20. Real life factors, situations, and variables were built into the simulation scenario.	1	2	3	4	5	NA	1	2	3	4	5

## **Reflection Paper**

Write a reflection paper on your experience over the last 10 weeks in this course. The paper must include the following:

- 1. 1000 word minimum.
- 2. Your thoughts prior to starting this 10 week module and your thoughts now.
- 3. How did you meet the objectives for each skill in the final simulation?
- 4. What you learned that will be beneficial in your clinical practice?
- 5. Would like to see anything done differently in the future for this course?
- 6. Any additional feedback you would like to share.

## Appendix B: Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning

## Student Satisfaction and Self-Confidence in Learning

Instructions: This questionnaire is a series of statements about your personal attitudes about the instruction you receive during your simulation activity. Each item represents a statement about your attitude toward your satisfaction with learning and self-confidence in obtaining the instruction you need. There are no right or wrong answers. You will probably agree with some of the statements and disagree with others. Please indicate your own personal feelings about each statement below by marking the numbers that best describe your attitude or beliefs. Please be truthful and describe your attitude as it really is, not what you would like for it to be. This is anonymous with the results being compiled as a group, not individually. Mark:

1 = STRONGLY DISAGREE with the statement

2 = DISAGREE with the statement

3 = UNDECIDED - you neither agree or disagree with the statement
4 = AGREE with the statement
5 = STRONGLY AGREE with the statement

Satisfaction with Current Learning	SD	D	UN	Α	SA
1. The teaching methods used in this simulation were helpful and effective.	1	2	3	4	5
2. The simulation provided me with a variety of learning materials and activities to promote my learning the medical surgical curriculum.	1	2	3	4	5
3. I enjoyed how my instructor taught the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5
4. The teaching materials used in this simulation were motivating and helped me to learn.	1	2	3	4	5
5. The way my instructor(s) taught the simulation was suitable to the way I learn.	1	2	3	4	5
Self-confidence in Learning	SD	D	UN	A	SA
6. I am confident that I am mastering the content of the simulation activity that my instructors presented to me	1	2	3	4	5
<ul><li>7. I am confident that this simulation covered critical content necessary for the mastery of medical surgical curriculum.</li></ul>	1	2	3	4	5
8. I am confident that I am developing the skills and obtaining the required knowledge from this simulation to perform necessary tasks in a clinical	1	2	3	4	5
9. My instructors used helpful resources to teach the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5
10. It is my responsibility as the student to learn what I need to know from this simulation activity.	1	2	3	4	5
11.I know how to get help when I do not understand the concepts covered in the simulation.	1	2	3	4	5
12. I know how to use simulation activities to learn critical aspects of these skills.	1	2	3	4	5
13. It is the instructor's responsibility to tell me what I need to learn of the simulation activity content during class time.	1	2	3	4	5

Appendix C: Interview Protocol

Project Study: Clinical Simulation with Nursing Student Perceptions of Satisfaction, Self Confidence, and Critical Thinking

Date \_\_\_\_\_\_ Time \_\_\_\_\_\_ Location \_\_\_\_\_\_ Interviewer: Jaime Magnetico Interviewee \_\_\_\_\_ Consent form signed? \_\_\_\_\_

Note to Interviewee: Thank you for your participation in the study. I appreciate your time to conduct this interview. Your responses will remain confidential.

Approximate length of time: 30 minutes

Purpose of Research: The purpose of this study is to explore differences in nursing students' perceptions of satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking scores of two groups of students who have experienced different amounts of clinical simulation experience.

Interview Questions:

1) How are simulations helpful and effective in your course? Response from Interviewee:

• Examples?

2) What are some comments or feedback that you have heard in regards to their satisfaction with the simulation? Response from Interviewee:

3) How is simulation suitable to the way your students learn? Response from Interviewee:

4) What are some concerns that students have expressed about self-confidence in your course?

Response from Interviewee:

5) How do you feel simulation experiences effect student's self-confidence? Response from Interviewee:

6) What are some comments or feedback that you have heard in regards to selfconfidence with simulation Response from Interviewee:

7) How would you describe your students critical thinking abilities in your course? Response from Interviewee:

8) How do you feel that simulations effect a student's critical thinking ability? Response from Interviewee:

9) Thank you for your time, do you have any comments to add about clinical simulation and your nursing student's satisfaction, self-confidence, and critical thinking?

Closure: Thank you for your time to conduct this interview. I greatly appreciate your help. After I review the interviews and write transcripts, I will e-mail the transcripts to you for your review to check of any errors.

# Appendix D: Reflection Summary

Prepare a reflection summary on your simulated clinical day.

Reflection must include the following:

- Minimum of 500 words
- Your thoughts/feelings about the day
- How did you meet the objectives for this simulated clinical day?
- What personal clinical performance opportunities for improvement can you identify?
- What is your take away from this experience that will help you in your clinical performance?